

## EFFECTS OF ORGANIC MATTER ADDITION AND TEMPERATURE INCREASE ON THE MICROPLANKTON COMMUNITY (PHYTO- AND MICROZOO-)

## Μαρία Λουίζα Πετρέ

ΔΙΠΛΩΜΑΤΙΚΗ ΕΡΓΑΣΙΑ

Επιβλέποντες: Καθηγητής Πανεπιστημίου Αιγαίου ΔΡΟΣΟΣ ΚΟΥΤΣΟΥΜΠΑΣ

Δ/ντρια Ερευνών ΕΛ.ΚΕ.Θ.Ε. ΠΑΡΑΣΚΕΥΗ ΠΗΤΤΑ

Μυτιλήνη, Οκτώβριος 2022

## ΔΙΠΛΩΜΑΤΙΚΗ ΕΡΓΑΣΙΑ

## Αποφοίτου του Π.Μ.Σ. «Ολοκληρωμένη Διαχείριση Παράκτιων Περιοχών»

## Μαρία Λουίζα Πετρέ

## ΑΝΤΙΚΕΙΜΕΝΟ ΕΡΓΑΣΙΑΣ:

# Effects of organic matter addition and temperature increase on the microplankton community (phyto- and microzoo-)

Τριμελής Επιτροπή Επίβλεψης και Κρίσης της Εργασίας

Δρόσος Κουτσούμπας

Καθηγητής ΤΩΘΒΕ, Πανεπιστήμιο Αιγαίου

Παρασκευή Πήττα

Διευθύντρια Ερευνών, Ινστιτούτο Ωκεανογραφίας, Ελληνικό Κέντρο

Θαλασσίων Ερευνών

Ευαγγελία Κρασακοπούλου

Καθηγήτρια ΤΩΘΒΕ, Πανεπιστήμιο Αιγαίου

Johan Wikner

**Καθηγητής, Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences,** Umeå universitet

## Acknowledgements

This endeavor would not have been possible without the trust and support of my supervisory committee, especially in such difficult times as the pandemic. I would therefore like to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Paraskevi Pitta, Dr. Johan Wikner and Prof. Drosos Koutsoubas, and their respective institutions. I am also deeply indebted to Dr. Anastasia Tsiola and Dr. Manolis Tsapakis, who carried me through this project from start to finish. A big thank you is also owed to my friends and microscopy go to teachers, Dr. Filomena "Mena" Romano and Katerina Symiakaki. This thesis would not have reached its final form without the support of Antonios Provatas, M.D. and Zisis Tsouris, M.D of the Department of Neurology, University Hospital of Larissa. Last but certainly not least I must thank my entire family and friends for brightening the course of this adventure. Mum, Dad, thank you for the tireless encouragement and assistance.

#### Abstract

This study investigates microplankton community responses to the addition of dissolved organic matter and temperature increase in seawater. The above research question is encompassed in a broader mesocosm experiment (PROMAC: Prokaryotic maintenence respiration, activities and structural adaptation at low temperature and starvation in the sub-Arctic) whose principal aim was to study the ecological significance of substantial prokaryotic maintenance respiration in the sea, previously demonstrated in the field. To evaluate the central experimental goal and that of the present thesis, four experimental treatments were applied in triplicate during a 29-day fully factorial experiment. No manipulations were applied in Control ('C') treatment. Additionally, treatments named after Nutrients ('N'), Temperature ('T'), Temperature & Nutrients ('TN') were also established. In the 'C' and 'N' treatments, mesocosm temperature was set to 1°C, while in the 'T' and 'TN' treatments it was set to 10°C. representing summer conditions. Treatments 'C' and 'TN' are representative of winter and summer conditions respectively, while 'N' and 'T' contribute to a fully factorial experimental design without coupling to a specific seaso. Microplankton community responses to experimental manipulations was examined (thesis topic) by means of taxonomic identification and cell enumeration via inverted microscopy. Significant differences in microplankton abundance were noted among treatments. The interaction of time with imposed treatments had a significant impact on the community composition of Diatoms, Dinoflagellates and Ciliates. Abiotic drivers of such shifts in communities were also explored. It is believed that in conjunction with bacterial abundance and respiration estimations, the present study will contribute to greater understanding of how a possible alteration in bacterial growth may affect higher trophic levels.

## Περίληψη

Στόχος της παρούσας πτυχιακής εργασίας είναι η μελέτη της απόκρισης της μικροπλαγκτονικής κοινότητας σε προσθήκη διαλυτής οργανικής ύλης και αύξηση της θερμοκρασίας στο θαλασσινό νερό. Το παραπάνω ερευνητικό ερώτημα εντάσσεται στο πλαίσιο ενός πειράματος μεσοκόσμων (PROMAC: Prokaryotic maintenence respiration, activities and structural adaptation at low temperature and starvation in the sub-Arctic) .Ειδικότερα, σημαντικές μεταβολικές διεργασίες των βακτηρίων (π.χ. ειδικοί ρυθμοί ανάπτυξης) τροποποιήθηκαν και μετέπειτα μελετήθηκαν σε ένα πλήρως παραγοντικό πείραμα (fully factorial experiment) που διήρκησε τέσσερις εβδομάδες (οκτώ πειραματικές ημέρες). Το πείραμα περιλάμβανε συνολικά δώδεκα μεσοκόσμους, με τέσσερις πειραματικές συνθήκες σε τρεις επαναλήψεις η καθεμία: συνθήκες ελέγχου (Control, "C"), συνθήκες αυξημένης προσθήκης διαλυτής οργανικής ύλης (Nutrients, "N"), συνθήκες αυξημένης θερμοκρασίας κατά 10°C (Temperature, "T") και τέλος, συνθήκες συνδυασμού προσθήκης θρεπτικών και αύξησης της θερμοκρασίας (Nutrients, Temperature, "ΤΝ"). Για το προτεινόμενο ερευνητικό ερώτημα στην παρούσα μελέτη πραγματοποιήθηκε η ταξινομική αναγνώριση και καταμέτρηση των μικρο- πλαγκτονικών (φυτο- και μικροζωο-) οργανισμών στους διαφορετικούς μεσοκόσμους με χρήση ανάστροφης μικροσκοπίας. Σε συνδυασμό με τις μετρήσεις της βακτηριακής αφθονίας και αναπνοής, αυτή η μελέτη θα συνεισφέρει στην κατανόηση της απόκρισης της μικροπλαγκτονικής κοινότητας κάτω από ελεγχόμενες συνθήκες, και πιο συγκεκριμένα μετά από αλλαγές στη λειτουργία της βακτηριακής κοινότητας.

## Contents

Acknowledgements					
AŁ	ostract		iii		
П٤	ερίληψη		iii		
1.	Intro	duction	1		
	1.1.	An introduction to the planktonic microbial food web	1		
	1.2.	The roles of microplankton	2		
	1.3.	The microbial plankton of the Baltic Sea	5		
	1.4.	The value of mesocosm experiments	7		
	1.5.	Study rationale and aims	8		
2.	Mate	rials and Methods	. 10		
	2.1.	Experimental design	. 10		
	2.2.	Estimation of mico-plankton abundance and community composition	. 11		
	2.3.	Estimation of relevant abiotic parameters	. 12		
	2.4.	Statistics	. 12		
3.	Resu	ts	. 14		
	3.1.	Brief description of micro-plankton community in the mesocosms	. 14		
	3.2.	Diatoms	. 14		
	3.2.1	Abundance of diatom community	. 14		
	3.2.2	. Community composition of diatoms	. 15		
	3.2.3	Abiotic drivers of diatom community	. 16		
	3.3.	Dinoflagellates	. 17		
	3.3.1	Abundance of dinoflagellate community	. 17		
	3.3.2	. Community composition of dinoflagellate community	. 18		
	3.3.3	. Abiotic drivers of dinoflagellate community	. 19		
	3.4.	Ciliates	. 20		

	3.4.1.	Abundance of ciliate community	20
	3.4.2.	Community composition of ciliate community	. 21
	3.4.3.	Abiotic drivers of ciliate community	. 23
3.	5. O	chrophyta	. 24
	3.5.1.	Ochrophyta abundance	. 24
	3.5.2.	Community composition of ochrophyta community	. 24
	3.5.3.	Abiotic drivers of ochrophyta community	25
3.	6. C	nlorophyta	26
3.	6. C 3.6.1.	nlorophyta Abundance of chlorophyta community	26 26
3.	6. C 3.6.1. 3.6.2.	nlorophyta Abundance of chlorophyta community Community composition of chlorophyta community	. 26 . 26 . 27
3.	6. C 3.6.1. 3.6.2. 3.6.3.	hlorophyta Abundance of chlorophyta community Community composition of chlorophyta community Abiotic drivers of chlorophyta community	. 26 . 26 . 27 . 27
3.	6. C 3.6.1. 3.6.2. 3.6.3. 7. O	hlorophyta Abundance of chlorophyta community Community composition of chlorophyta community Abiotic drivers of chlorophyta community ther taxa	. 26 . 26 . 27 . 27 . 28
3. 3. 4.	<ol> <li>6. C</li> <li>3.6.1.</li> <li>3.6.2.</li> <li>3.6.3.</li> <li>7. O</li> <li>Discuss</li> </ol>	Abundance of chlorophyta community Community composition of chlorophyta community Abiotic drivers of chlorophyta community ther taxa	. 26 . 26 . 27 . 27 . 28 . 29

### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. An introduction to the planktonic microbial food web

Marine microorganisms, including prokaryotes (bacteria and archaea), eukaryotic phyto- and zooplankton and viruses are linked together through trophic interactions, forming an elaborate network known as the planktonic microbial food web(Sherr and Sherr, 1991; Herndl et al., 2008; Trombetta et al., 2020). Planktonic marine microbes fall into several size fractions, including femto- (0.02-0.2  $\mu$ m), pico- (0.2-2  $\mu$ m), nano- (2-20  $\mu$ m), micro- (20-200  $\mu$ m) plankton (Sieburth et al., 1978). In addition to variation in size, members of this food web display diversity with regard to trophic type, i.e. autotrophy, heterotrophy, mixotrophy and, when speaking for viruses, more frequently lytic infection and lysis of all above-mentioned microbial groups (Sherr and Sherr, 1991; Mostajir et al., 2015).

Trophic interactions linking planktonic microbes include predation, commensalism or symbiosis, competition for nutrients and parasitism (Azam et al., 1983; Lima-Mendez et al., 2015; Trombetta et al., 2020). With the exception of parasitism, all trophic relationships mentioned above are represented within the concept of the "microbial loop". Briefly, dissolved organic matter (DOM) produced by phytoplankton is capitalised by heterotrophic bacteria which are preyed on mostly by heterotrophic flagellates but also by other eukaryotes to a lesser extent, like ciliates. In turn, predators of bacteria act as prey for microzooplankton(Azam et al., 1983). Particulate organic carbon (POC) that has been produced through sloppy grazing, cell death and decomposition or other processes may also be capitalised by heterotrophic bacteria and thus, re-introduced in the food web. A representation of the pelagic food web, including the microbial loop, is presented in Fig 1. The "microbial food web" complements the "traditional" food chain in which diatoms can be described as the main phytoplankton group and are consumed by copepods, with the latter being the pray of fish and cetaceans (Legendre and Rassoulzadegan, 1995; Pernthaler, 2005).

The significance of the microbial food web with regard to energy and nutrient pathways in the pelagic environment has been highlighted due to the recognition of the great microbial abundance with significant growth rates in the oceans (Azam et al., 1983;Pomeroy, 1974). Indeed, the planktonic microbial food web is a modulator of energy and nutrient transfer within the pelagic food web; depending on microbial functioning, on one hand, energy and nutrients may be transferred higher up in the food chain or on the other hand, may be removed to the dissolved fraction of the water column(Azam et al., 1983; Baretta-Bekker et al., 1995; Trombetta et al., 2020). For instance, the pool of available DOC is altered by the viral shunt, whereby DOC is produced through the infection and lysis of

bacteria (Wilhelm and Suttle, 1999). Additionally, micro-zooplankton, in conjunction with heterotrophic flagellates contribute to nutrient remineralisation via grazing activity (McManus and Santoferrara, 2013).

Overall, the structure and functions of the planktonic microbial food web are governed by bottom-up (nutrient availability) and top-down (predation) control mechanisms(Mostajir et al., 2015; Andersson et al., 2017). Although there is evidence suggesting that the significance of top-down processes has been underrated, predation remains a dominant selection pressure on marine populations(Tiselius and Møller, 2017). Certainly, incorporation of viruses within modelling efforts of the pelagic food web would increase their predictive capacity (Legendre and Rivkin, 2008) and consequently our understanding of the food web functioning.



Figure 1. Representation of the pelagic food web including the microbial loop. Figure adapted from: Gilbert and Mitra, (2022).

#### 1.2. The roles of microplankton

2

Planktonic organisms within the size fraction of 20-200 µm are collectively known as microplankton(Sieburth et al., 1978). Microplankton are a diverse group of organisms, primarily represented by diatoms (silicifiers), ciliates and dinoflagellates (Quere et al., 2005; Romano and Pitta, 2021), which dominate in waters of higher trophic status (eutrophic) in terms of biomass (Uitz et al., 2006). In mesotrophic and oligotrophic waters, nanoplankton and picoplankton biomass respectively is predominant (Fuhrman et al., 1989; Uitz et al., 2006). Traditionally divided into phytoplankton and micro- or proto- zooplankton(Flynn et al., 2013; Mitra et al., 2014), microplankton trophic strategies range from strict autotrophy to mixotrophy and heterotrophy. Mixotrophy is currently increasingly

recognized as a predominant trophic strategy among microplankton(Mitra et al., 2016). Each of the groups presented above, may represent a "functional type" (i.e., phytoplankton silicifiers, protozooplankton) influencing significant ecosystem processes(Quere et al., 2005).

Diatoms, silicifying phytoplankton ranging between a few  $\mu$ m to 2 mm when in chains, predominate in systems of higher productivity with adequate light availability(Quere et al., 2005; Sarthou et al., 2005; Armbrust, 2009; Leblanc et al., 2012). The global estimate of diatom biomass is 0.11Pg C, whilst diatom abundance around the globe falls between 1 and 6.95\*10<sup>7</sup> cells L<sup>-1</sup>(Quere et al., 2005; Uitz et al., 2006; Leblanc et al., 2012). Diatoms are responsible for approximately 40 to 45% of annual primary production in the global ocean and account for 20% of breathing oxygen (Mann, 1999; Quere et al., 2005; Leblanc et al., 2012;). It is therefore obvious that diatoms have a significant influence on the carbon (C) cycle, and the cycling of other elements, particularly silica (Si) (Yool and Tyrrell, 2003; Sarthou et al., 2005;). In addition, diatoms are significant C exporters to the ocean's interior, with their dimensions and ability to attract/collide to other particles contributing to this fast sinking(Boyd and Newton, 1999; Yool and Tyrrell, 2003; Quere et al., 2005; Sarthou et al., 2005; Cermeño et al., 2006). In temperate coastal waters, especially, aggregated diatoms and sinking blooms transport nutrients as well as carbon to the seabed (Thornton, 2002). Moreover, diatoms are important elements of marine snow, diverse particle aggregates >500 µm long, whose sinking contributes to the export of organic matter (Alldredge and Silver, 1988; Azam and Malfatti, 2007).

Ciliates are essentially cosmopolitan planktonic heterotrophic and mixotrophic organisms falling within the nanoand micro- size classes (Pierce and Turner, 1992; Pitta et al., 2001). Ciliates are predators of pico- and nanoplankton, whilst acting as prey for larger zooplankton such as copepods and metazoans (Setälä and Kivi, 2003; Pomeroy et al., 2007). Consequently, ciliates act as a bridge between the microbial food web and higher trophic levels, representing a critical component of the pelagic food web, especially in oligotrophic waters(Pierce and Turner, 1992; Pitta et al., 2001; Romano and Pitta, 2021). It is noteworthy that mixotrophy in ciliates may be widespread, for example during summer months, with mixotrophic ciliates representing circa 20% of integrated to 200m depth ciliate abundance and biomass in the Mediterranean in June and >60% of ciliate abundance and biomass in the mixed layer of the Eastern Bering Sea(Pitta et al., 2001; Stoecker et al., 2014). Photoautotrophy of ciliates has also been reported in the past, in the case of *Mesodinium rubrum* (Stoecker et al., 1989; Setälä and Kivi, 2003). Overall evidence suggests that *M. rubrum* in combination with mixotrophic ciliates may contribute significantly to photosynthesis at low algal biomass in addition to acting as prey for larger plankton(Stoecker et al., 1989).

Dinoflagellates are cosmopolitan flagellated protists of multiple size fractions (pico- to meso-), and trophic strategies ranging from autotrophy to heterotrophy and mixotrophy (Adl et al., 2005; Jeong et al., 2010; Hansen,

2011; le Bescot et al., 2016). Dinoflagellates are often dominant in plankton assemblages(Jeong et al., 2010; Murray et al., 2016), identifiable as culprits of Harmful Algal Blooms (HABs) usually at warm water temperatures (Gomez, 2012; Murray et al., 2016). They represent a significant component of microplankton in distinct ecosystems(Hansen, 1991; Sherr and Sherr, 2007; Stoecker et al., 2014) including the poles (Sherr and Sherr, 1994) and the Eastern Mediterranean (Romano and Pitta, 2021). In the coastal ocean, dinoflagellates appear to be abundant simultaneously with larger phytoplankton(Hansen, 1991). Evidence suggests that heterotrophic dinoflagellates exert significant grazing pressure on diatoms and are prominent herbivores(Levinsen et al., 2002; Sherr and Sherr, 2007). The significance of symbiotic mixotrophic dinoflagellates as predators is poorly understood (Hansen, 2011). Additionally, dinoflagellates can prey on organisms on the lower end of the size spectrum (picoplankton), thus bridging bacteria to higher trophic levels through the food web(Sherr and Sherr, 1994; Jeong et al., 2010)., similarly to ciliates. Within the food web, dinoflagellates appear to compete with ciliates for food(Hansen, 1991; Jeong et al., 2010). Due to diverse trophic strategies, they carry out diverse critical roles within the food web and elemental cycles(Levinsen et al., 2002; Gomez, 2012; Jeong et al., 2010; Murray et al., 2016). However, it is evident that their importance within the food web may have been overlooked. To understand the impact of dinoflagellates on marine food webs and biogeochemical cycles it is suggested that this should be examined on a size fraction basis(le Bescot et al., 2016).

As seen above, microplankton carry out key ecosystem roles(Quere et al., 2005; Sarthou et al., 2005; Jeong et al., 2010; Romano and Pitta, 2021) and therefore understanding the factors controlling their community structure (abundance, biomass, diversity) is essential especially when faced with challenges such as climate change(Winder and Sommer, 2012). A large proportion of studies concerning microplankton variability are divided into phytoplankton and microzooplankton investigations (Calbet and Landry, 2004; Irigoien et al., 2004; Marãnón et al., 2014; Stoecker et al., 2014), although this may be a false dichotomy(Flynn et al., 2013). Regardless, it is evident that shifts in both categories are regulated by abiotic and biotic parameters(Cermeño et al., 2006; Marañón et al., 2000; 2014; Stoecker et al., 2014) that are described below.

Nutrient limitation (Irigoien et al., 2004; Litchman and Klausmeier, 2008; Marañón, 2005; 2014), including Fe limitation in oceanic locations(Chavez et al., 1991; Boyd et al., 2000), and with few exceptions light(Andersson and Hagstrom, 1994; Marañón et al., 2000; Cermeño et al., 2006;), appear to be key abiotic parameters regulating phytoplankton distribution and growth rates. Equally, temperature may control phytoplankton succession in temperate seas (Andersson and Hagstrom, 1994) but not growth and production rates in the ocean(Marãnón et al., 2014). On the other hand, multiple studies suggest that grazing and sinking are critical biotic components controlling phytoplankton communities in terms of both abundance and diversity(Calbet and Landry, 2004; Sarthou et al., 2005; Litchman and Klausmeier, 2008). Cell lysis may also contribute to phytoplankton loss(Sarthou et al., 2005). Similarly to phytoplankton, grazing appears to be a key regulatory parameter of microzooplankton community structure(Levinsen et al., 2002; Pomeroy et al., 2007; Stoecker et al., 2014). Abiotic parameters such as

4

nutrient availability(Pitta et al., 2001; Levinsen et al., 2002), possibly controlled by mixing and stratification(Stoecker et al., 2014), and likely temperature (Romano and Pitta, 2021) control microzooplankton assemblages.

Throughout this section, it has become evident that microplankton members often act as a bridge with higher trophic levels within the pelagic food web (Pomeroy et al., 2007). The microbial loop is a representative example of the relationships between microplankton and bacteria, which consist of commensalism, symbiosis, parasitism, competition for resources and predation. At this point, it should be noted that coupling of bacteria to primary producers is not necessarily strict, and the variability of this relationship is highly dependent on ecosystems(Morán et al., 2002; Azam and Malfatti, 2007;). Moreover, predation may well be one of the earliest eukaryotic- prokaryotic interactions that have been recognized(Cavalier-Smith, 2002). Nonetheless bacteria have been known to form symbiotic relationships with micro-phytoplankton in particular (Armbrust, 2009; Amin et al., 2015; Durham et al., 2015).Furthermore, protist mixotrophy may lead to a microplankton-bacteria relationship akin to "farming" (Mitra et al., 2014) whereby mixotrophs supply bacteria with DOM enabling their growth and bacteria supply mixotrophs with inorganic nutrients through grazing. Overall, microbial interactions in the ocean are highly complex and gaining insight into microscale processes should increase our understanding into biogeochemical paths(Azam and Malfatti, 2007).

Given that bacterial-microplankton interactions influence ecosystem processes(Azam et al., 1983), understanding the influence of bacterial growth alterations on the ecosystem (and thereby on microplankton too) should increase our insight into future ocean functioning. Nonetheless, available bibliography is centered on the parameters controlling bacterial growth predominantly within the context of climate change (Huete-Stauffer et al., 2015; Morán et al., 2017). However, it can be surmised that ocean warming will possibly enhance both bacterial standing stocks and grazing, possibly placing microbes at the center of the marine carbon cycle(Sarmento et al., 2010). Therefore, it could be argued that knowledge of regulatory mechanisms behind bacterial growth will enable us to better understand the interactions between bacterial and microplankton growth, and the marine ecosystem as a whole.

#### **1.3. The microbial plankton of the Baltic Sea**

The Baltic Sea is one of the vastest bodies of brackish water on the globe, situated between 53°55'N and 65°48'N (Snoeijs-Leijonmalm and Andren, 2017). It is a semi-enclosed sea, linked to the Atlantic and North Sea through the Skagerrak, which is considered its entrance, and is composed of the Gulf of Finland, the Gulf of Bothnia and the Baltic Proper (HELCOM, 1993; Wasmund and Uhlig, 2003; Carstensen and Heiskanen, 2007). The brackish nature of the Baltic Sea is primarily due to receiving water from over 200 rivers and limited water exchange with the North Sea (Snoeijs-Leijonmalm and Andren, 2017). Due to its northern latitude, seasonality is highly pronounced in the

region (Kaikkonen et al., 2020). Additionally, the vast geographic gradient of this sea produces significant differences in abiotic parameters such as salinity, dissolved organic carbon concentration, ice cover, light regime affecting species distribution (Granskog et al., 2006; Snoeijs-Leijonmalm and Andren, 2017; Olofsson et al., 2020).

Salinity in particular appears to exert significant influence on the spatial distribution of microbial plankton including bacteria and phytoplankton, in the different Baltic Sea regions(Andersson et al., 1996; Olofsson et al., 2020; Camarena-Gómez et al., 2021;). Whilst examining seasonal variation in microplankton community structure across varying salinities in the region, Olofsson et al. (2020) observed that peak abundance of phytoplankton was reached earlier in the year (winter-spring months) in higher salinity stations and that lower salinity stations displayed higher interannual variability in phytoplankton abundance. Nonetheless, seasonality in the microbial plankton community of the Baltic Sea, including the appearance and termination of the spring bloom, appears to be largely regulated by temperature variation and nutrient limitation (Kivi et al., 1993; Andersson et al., 2010; Jurgensone et al., 2011; Kaikkonen et al., 2020; Alegria Zufia et al., 2021).

The initiation of the spring bloom varies across the different basins of the Baltic Sea(Kahru and Nommann, 1990). Briefly, spring bloom appearance in the different basins occurs between March in the southern Baltic Sea and May in the Gulf of Bothnia(Camarena-Gómez et al., 2021). The spring bloom across all basins is terminated due to depletion of available nutrients, (Hagström et al., 2001), a topic that is discussed later in this section . Across the Baltic Sea, spring blooms are primarily composed of diatoms, dinoflagellates, or a combination of the two whilst ciliates may also be present (Camarena-Gómez et al., 2021). It is noteworthy, that during the last decades, a shift from diatom to dinoflagellate dominated spring blooms has been observed in the Baltic Sea (Wasmund and Uhlig, 2003; Jurgensone et al., 2011; Spilling et al., 2018; Hjerne et al., 2019) . There is evidence suggesting that diatoms are predominant following cold winters, with vast ice coverage whilst dinoflagellates dominate blooms after mild winters (Jurgensone et al., 2011; Hjerne et al., 2019; Spilling et al., 2018) .

Representative diatoms of the Baltic Sea regions include the centric diatoms *Thalassiosira baltica, Thalassiosira levanderi, Chaetoceros wighamii, Chaetoceros sp., Skeletonema marinoi, Melosira arctica* and the pennate diatoms *Pauliella taeniata (also identified as Navicula* sp. (Eriksson et al., 1977; Andersson et al., 1996; Enberg et al., 2018; Hjerne et al., 2019). The chain-forming dinoflagellate *Peridiniella catenata* is ubiquitous across the region, whilst elliptical medium sized dinoflagellates are common in the northern Baltic Sea( Andersson et al., 1996; Spilling et al., 2018; Camarena-Gómez et al., 2021). The most commonly encountered ciliate during and after the spring bloom is the mixotrophic *Mesodinium rubrum* and oligotrichs such as strombilidiids and strombidiids are found in the summer (Eriksson et al., 1977; Setälä and Kivi, 2003; Mironova et al., 2012). In late summer, the microplankton community composed of the abovementioned taxa gives away to a cyanobacterial bloom mostly consisting of *Aphanizomenon* sp. and *Nodularia spumigena* (Andersson et al., 1996; Jurgensone et al., 2011; Spilling et al., 2018).

6

Secondary peaks of diatoms have also been reported during autumn (Andersson et al., 1996; Hagström et al., 2001; Jurgensone et al., 2011).

One of the low productivity areas in the Baltic Sea, with only four predominant microplankton species (constituting >25% of total biomass) during the spring bloom, is the Bothnian Bay, a subregion of the Gulf of Bothnia (Andersson et al., 1996; Snoeijs-Leijonmalm and Andren, 2017). Overall, the Gulf of Bothnia is considered oligotrophic whilst the remaining basins are mesotrophic and possibly eutrophic along the coast (Nixon, 1995; Snoeijs-Leijonmalm and Andren, 2017). Additionally, the Gulf of Bothnia is predominantly phosphorus limited, whilst other regions in the Baltic Sea are predominantly nitrogen limited and possibly silicate limited in the case of the Gulf of Riga (Andersson et al., 1996; Hagström et al., 2001; Tamminen and Andersen, 2007; Jurgensone et al., 2011). Remarkably, the Gulf of Bothnia is net heterotrophic, with pelagic respiration theoretically exceeding photosynthetic carbon fixation by 60% in the Bothnian Bay and 30% in the Bothnian Sea (Algesten et al., 2004; Sandberg et al., 2004). A likely source of carbon for bacteria is Terrigenous Dissolved Organic Carbon (TDOC) (Sandberg et al., 2004). The dominance of bacteria with regard to respiration in the Gulf of Bothnia (Sandberg et al., 2004) is significant. A large proportion of respiration is driven by riverine DOC and maintenance respiration of bacteria in the Öre Estuary (northern Bothnian Sea, Vikström and Wikner (2019), Vikström et al. 2020).

Overall, the Baltic Sea is a sub-Arctic estuary with vast climatic variation and a pronounced salinity gradient. This is influential on the spatial distribution of species. Higher productivity in all basins of the Baltic Sea occurs during spring whilst secondary peaks during autumn may occur. Shifts in the species composition of the spring bloom are occurring in the Baltic Sea, a process for which climate change has been implicated. Finally, oligotrophy is a feature of the northern Baltic Sea where heterotrophy seems to be more pronounced.

#### 1.4. The value of mesocosm experiments

Often, in the aquatic environment, the study of ecological phenomena in the field is costly and does not yield results of high statistical power due to natural spatiotemporal variability (Båmstedt and Larsson, 2018) as well as methodological variability. Reducing the volume of water, and duration of time over which these phenomena are studied by conducting laboratory experiments, may increase scientific understanding of ecological functioning (Stewart et al., 2013). However, microcosm experiments in particular are a poor reflection of the intricacy observed in nature(Stewart et al., 2013; Båmstedt and Larsson, 2018). By bridging the gap between natural conditions and the laboratory, mesocosms are an invaluable tool to ecologists(Petersen et al., 2009; Riebesell et al., 2010). The prevalence of mesocosm experiments in ecological research is increasing steadily due to their ability to capture ecosystem dynamics on a high organisational level and geochemical processes(Petersen et al., 2009; Riebesell et al., 2009; Riebesell et al., 2013; Stewart et al., 2013; Petersen and Kemp, 2019). Additionally, mesocosm experiments are characterised by a high degree of control, replication and repeatability (Riebesell et al., 2010; Petersen and Kemp, 2019).

One of the main ecological challenges addressed through mesocosm science is the consequences of climate change on marine and freshwater ecosystems(Stewart et al., 2013; Båmstedt and Wikner, 2016; Celussi et al., 2017; Mustaffa et al., 2020; Hébert et al., 2022). One such example is the investigation of the effects of increased organic matter availability due to climate change on plankton communities in the Baltic Sea(Båmstedt and Wikner, 2016; Mustaffa et al., 2020). In oligotrophic regions of the Mediterranean, Celussi et al. (2017) employed offshore anchored mesocosms to determine the impact of ocean acidification on prokaryotic communities. As climate change is a global phenomenon, Hébert et al. (2022) demonstrated detrimental effects of freshwater salinisation on biodiversity in a coordinated mesocosm experiment across Europe and North America.

In addition to climate change, mesocosms have been used to address highly relevant challenges such as pollution, multiple stressors and ecological questions of high relevance(Pitta et al., 2016; Tsiola et al., 2018; Magiopoulos et al., 2020; Juvigny-Khenafou et al., 2021). For instance, in the eastern Mediterranean, Magiopoulos et al. (2020) demonstrated substantial detrimental effects of in situ oil burning on plankton communities using land based mesocosms. Similarly, Tsiola et al. (2018) noted the impacts of increasingly relevant silver engineered nanoparticle pollution on microbial plankton. In the freshwater environment, mesocosms in streams were used to investigate ecosystem service losses in benthic macroinvertebrates as a result of multiple pressures(Juvigny-Khenafou et al., 2021). Ecological questions addressed through mesocosm experiments include phosphorus cycling dynamics in the ultra-oligotrophic eastern Mediterranean and food web dynamics(Pitta et al., 2016; Degerman et al., 2018).

The above examples demonstrate the multidisciplinary character of mesocosm experiments and their ability to foster multinational cooperation(Riebesell et al., 2010). Finally, it is evident that mesocosm experiments are an effective tool in addressing current and future challenges in aquatic research.

#### 1.5. Study rationale and aims

8

In the Baltic Sea, productive periods (spring bloom) are dominated by microplankton such as diatoms and dinoflagellates (Camarena-Gómez et al., 2021). The northern Baltic Sea is an oligotrophic, net-heterotrophic area(Algesten et al., 2004; Snoeijs-Leijonmalm and Andren, 2017), where respiration exceeds carbon fixation (Sandberg et al., 2004). Bacterial respiration represents the conversion of DOC into CO<sub>2</sub> and accounts for a significant proportion of community respiration (del Giorgio et al., 1997; Martínez-García et al., 2013). A fraction of this respiration is a result of mechanisms allocated to cell survival (maintenance energy) (Pirt, 1982). Maintenance energy of bacteria shows inverse pattern along the trophic gradient, being higher in oligotrophic areas (del Giorgio and Cole, 1998). In the northwestern Bothnian Sea, maintenance respiration was a significant fraction of yearly bacterial respiration (Vikström and Wikner, 2019).

The significance of maintenance respiration was validated in a mesocosm experiment (PROMAC: Prokaryotic maintenance respiration, activities and structural adaptation at low temperature and starvation in the sub-Arctic), by manipulating bacterial specific growth rate through temperature and substrate manipulations. Within PROMAC,

the present thesis aimed to examine the influence of temperature and substrate manipulations on the higher trophic levels, and specifically on microplankton abundance and community structure. This was achieved through collection and analysis of water samples with the use of inverted microscopy. Associated measurements (temperature, salinity, and concentrations of nutrients and chlorophyll) were also collected for identifying explanatory variables.

In today's world, in view of physicochemical alterations, slight changes at the foundations of the food web may be magnified via food chains (Sarmento et al., 2010). Since microplankton is significant in its interactions within the planktonic microbial food wed, it is therefore important that it is studied in a changing ocean.

## 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Experimental design

The mesocosm experiment took place at the Mesocosm Facility, Umeå Marine Sciences Centre (MF-UMSC), between March and April 2020 (05/3 – 03/4). MF-UMSC is located on the Swedish east coast, specifically the Gulf of Bothnia (63°33'52.8"N 19°49'53.2"E) (https://www.umu.se/en/research/infrastructure/mesocosm-facility/). Ice-covered brackish water was directly retrieved 800 m offshore the facility at a maximum depth of 5 m using standard polyethylene water pipes. Initially filtered through 2 mm pore size filters operating under the Bernoulli principle (Bernoullifilter, Sweden), water was then evenly distributed in 12 indoor insulated polyethylene mesocosm. Individual mesocosm dimensions are 4.86 m high with a diameter of 0.73 m, with an approximate total volume of 2 m<sup>3</sup> of water. Tank temperature was regulated by sensors (Honeywell AB, Sweden) while the light source was set to a 12-hour light – 12-hour dark cycle, mimicking the end of April daylight spectrum (Valoya R-258, Light DNA). Mixing within the mesocosm is achieved through convective stirring, 4-hour turnover in the present experiment, generated by the temperature control system (Båmstedt and Larsson, 2018).



Image 1. Indoor Mesocosms at the Umeå Marine Sciences Center (UMSC). Source: <u>https://www.umu.se/en/research/infrastructure/mesocosm-facility/</u>. Image by Markus Nordin.

For the evaluation of the central experimental goal and that of the present thesis, four experimental treatments were applied in triplicate during a 29 day (8 Sampling Days) fully factorial experiment. Control ('C') treatment was representative of winter conditions and no manipulations were applied. Labile dissolved organic matter (DOM) in the form of yeast extract (59  $\mu$ mol C L<sup>-1</sup> final concentration) was added to the Nutrients ('N') and Temperature and Nutrients ('TN') treatments on Sampling Day 0. Yeast extract additions continued throughout the course of the

experiment after each main sampling (8 additions). Temperature of the collected water (1 m depth) was 0°C, and that of the treatments 'C' and was set to 1°C thus representing winter conditions. A Temperature ('T') treatment was also established. In the 'TN' treatments, mesocosm temperature was set to 10°C and nutrients were added thus representing summer conditions. Additional treatments were nutrient addition at 1 ° C ('N') and temperature at 10°C ('T') creating a full orthogonal design. Sampling events, eight in total, occurred in the mornings (between 08:00 and 10:00) two times per week, specifically Mondays and Thursdays. A total of 25 L were sampled per mesocosm per event, using acid washed (1 mol dm<sup>3</sup> HCl) polycarbonate bottles of the same volume from a hose situated 1.55 m from the bottom of each mesocosm. Samples were subsequently transported to temperature-controlled rooms set to 1 °C ('C' and 'N' treatment samples) and 10 °C ('T' and 'TN' treatment samples). The removed volume was subsequently replaced the following day with 1 µm filtered water to maintain constant water levels in the tanks and prevent further entry of organisms. Sampling preceded yeast extract addition when the latter occurred.

#### 2.2. Estimation of micro-plankton abundance and community composition

To study the microplankton community, 100 mL of water were obtained from each of the larger 25 L bottles on sampling days. This took place in the morning immediately after sample transportation to the temperature-controlled rooms. Sub-sampling bottles were rinsed once with mesocosm water prior to water collection. Shortly thereafter, sub-samples were equally divided in replicated 50 mL centrifuge tubes and fixed with acid Lugol's solution (elemental lodine, Potassium iodide and acetic acid solution), at 1% final concentration. The replicates were carefully stored in a refrigerator (4°C) until further analysis in the lab at the Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (https://www.hcmr.gr/en/).

Within eighteen months of collection, 25 mL of each single replicate was placed in sedimentation chambers for 24 hours (Utermöhl, 1931). Cells were examined using an Olympus IX-70 inverted microscope (magnification x 150) equipped with a camera for image capturing (SPOT Basic, Version 5.1.3., SPOT<sup>™</sup> Imaging Solutions). Diatoms, dinoflagellates, ciliates, ochrophyta, chlorophyta and other taxa were counted and identified to family and subsequently genus level when possible.



Image 1. Sedimentation chambers (Utermöhl, 1931), Hydro-Bios Apparatebau GmbH.

#### 2.3. Estimation of relevant abiotic parameters

Relevant abiotic parameters were estimated in situ or through the collection of water samples from mesocosms two times per week during sampling events. The concentration of  $O_2$  in  $\mu$ M, CDOM (Coloured Dissolved Organic Matter) in  $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>, temperature and salinity were measured in situ with a CTD (Conductivity, Temperature, Depth) instrument (Seabird SBE 19 plus, Seabird Electronics, Washington, USA). Water samples for the determination of Total Dissolved Nitrogen (TDN) and Total Dissolved Phosphorus (TDP) were collected and stored in the dark at 4°C prior to analysis. TDN and TDP concentrations were determined using a four-channel auto analyser (Quattro marine; Bran and Luebbe<sup>®</sup>, Sweden) according to standard protocols of the Umeå Marine Sciences Centre and Grasshoff et al., (1999). Chlorophyll a (Chl a) concentration was determined fluorometrically, following ethanol extraction, as per Reigstad et al., (2002) with a Perkin Elmer LS 30 Luminescence spectrometer.

#### 2.4. Statistics

Differences between treatments (C, N, T, TN) during the course of the experiment in examined variables were tested using repeated measures analysis of variance (RM ANOVA). One-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) was used to test for differences between treatments in specific variables on particular experimental days. To examine statistically significant differences between treatments, post hoc Tukey tests (Tukey HSD) were applied. Prior to running the analyses assumptions of sphericity (Mauchly's test) and homogeneity of variance (Levene's test) were verified for RM ANOVA and one-way ANOVA respectively. RM and one-way ANOVA were carried out with IBM SPSS Statistics (v.23) (IBM Corp., USA). Data was introduced as total sum of each examined variable per mesocosm.

The effects of experimental factors 'time' and 'treatment' including the interaction of the two factors on microplankton taxa community composition were tested using permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) with two factors. Biotic data (abundance) was square root transformed, and a resemblance matrix was constructed using Bray-Curtis similarity. The null hypothesis, no differences in community composition throughout the experiment, was tested using 999 permutations. Within major taxonomic units, Principal Coordinate analysis was applied, to discern variation in community composition based on applied treatments among samples. Within major taxonomic units, a two-way analysis ('time', 'treatment') of similarity percentages and taxon contribution (SIMPER) was applied on sample data. Diversity indices, Shannon diversity index and Pielou's evenness, were calculated per sample for each major taxonomic unit (Pielou 1966; Shannon and Weaver, 1948).

Abiotic drivers of micro-plankton community composition were determined through distance linear models, with results plotted as a distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA). Abiotic data were normalised, and a similarity matrix based on Euclidian distance was constructed. Community composition data including abiotic drivers were analysed using PRIMER 6 (v 6.1.16) with PERMANOVA + software (v. 1.0.6) (PRIMER-E Ltd, Plymouth Marine Laboratory, Natural Environmental Research Council, UK) (Anderson et al., 2008; Clarke and Gorley, 2006).

## 3. Results

#### 3.1. Brief description of micro-plankton community in the mesocosms

The microplankton community in the mesocosms, as identified through microscopy, is primarily comprised of diatoms, dinoflagellates and ciliates. Representative genera were identified in each of these taxa and were present in all samples in proportionately high abundances. Briefly, in diatoms these include the genera *Skeletonema* and *Chaetoceros*, in dinoflagellates the order *Gymnodiniales* and the genus *Peridiniella* and in ciliates the genera *Strombidium*, *Strobilidium*, *Mesodinium* and *Lohmaniella*. Other notable taxa include the phyla *Ochrophyta* and *Chlorophyta*, primarily represented by the genera *Dynobryon* and *Monoraphidium*. Further taxa were identified at considerably lower abundances and are referred to as 'Other taxa' herein. Within this section, significant differences in total abundance and community composition of the taxa mentioned above are explored in detail. Additionally, abiotic drivers on taxa community are identified.

#### **3.2. Diatoms**

#### 3.2.1. Abundance of diatom community

Under increased temperature (T, TN), diatom abundance remained low.

#### Under sole nutrient enrichment (N), diatom abundance increased mildly towards the end of the experiment.

Significant differences in total diatom abundance were noted between controls (C) and all other treatments (RM ANOVA, F (3) =16.7). Specifically, total diatom abundance was higher in C compared to all other treatments (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05). As seen in Fig. 2, diatom abundance appeared to follow a similar pattern across all treatments up to D4, remaining at levels between 26560 cells L<sup>-1</sup> and 322907 cells L<sup>-1</sup>. From D5, diatom abundance at C continued to increase until the end of the experiment, reaching approximately 8 times higher abundances compared to the beginning. Diatom abundance remained relatively stable in N until D8, whilst experiencing a peak and crash after D6 in T and TN falling to 24242 cellsL<sup>-1</sup> and 104061 cellsL<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.



Figure 2. Mean diatom abundance in all treatments across all days of the experiment. Data is based on triplicate counts (three mesocosms per treatment). C corresponds to controls, N to nutrient addition in the mesocosms, T to mesocosms with temperature set to 10°C and TN to mesocosms that received nutrients whilst having their temperature set to 10°C.

#### 3.2.2. Community composition of diatoms

Increased temperature triggered most of the differences in diatom community composition, while nutrient enrichment was not adequate to trigger large differences.

Diatom evenness did not follow a significantly different pattern between controls and treatments (data not shown, RM ANOVA F (3) = 2.8, p < 0.05). Shannon- Wiener diversity index values for the diatom community were significantly different between controls and T, and between N and treatments T and TN (data not shown, RM ANOVA F (3) = 7.6, p<0.05). According to PERMANOVA results, the interaction of the experimental factors 'time' and 'treatment' resulted in significant differences in diatom community composition patterns (PERMANOVA, pseudo-F=2.79, p < 0.05). The highest degree of diatom community dissimilarity was observed between controls (C) and T (29.14, SIMPER) with *Skeletonema* contributing to this by almost 44%, whilst the lowest degree of dissimilarity was recorded between controls (C) and N (14.65, SIMPER), with *Skeletonema* accounting for 39.60 % of the differences.

As seen in Fig. 3 the genera *Skeletonema* sp. and *Chaetoceros* sp. cumulatively accounted for approximately 90% of the relative diatom abundance across all treatments and days. Overall, *Chaetoceros* sp. did not exceed 30% of relative diatom abundance with the exception of two occasions. Specifically, on D3, treatment T, *Chaetoceros* sp. relative abundance exceeded 40% and on D8, treatment TN, was approximately 40%. Despite the dominance of the two genera, *Skeletonema* sp. *and Chaetoceros* sp., with regard to relative abundance, a total of 31 diatom genera were identified in the samples.



Figure 3. Diatom community composition. Relative abundance of diatom genera over the course of the experiment in all treatments. Rare genera include: *Pseudo-Nitzschia, Grammatophora, Fragilaria, Leptocylindrus, Synedra, Thalassionema, Stauroneis, Amphora, Gomphonemopsis, Licmophora, Peronia, Achnanthes, Aulacoseira, Ctenophora, Actinocyclus, Amphipleura, Stephanodiscus, Rossithium, Amphiprora, Tabularia*. Data is based on triplicate counts (three mesocosms per treatment). C corresponds to controls, N to nutrient addition in the mesocosms, T to mesocosms with temperature set to 10°C and TN to mesocosms that received nutrients whilst having temperature set to 10°C.

#### 3.2.3. Abiotic drivers of diatom community

Diatom community composition patterns were significantly associated with  $O_2$  concentration, Chl a, TDN, TDP concentration ( $R^2 = 0.32$ , pseudo-F = 4.36, p< 0.05). Temperature was a significant driver in community composition when considered separately from other parameters (pseudo-F = 18.12, p<0.05) but did not contribute significantly to the model. Nonetheless, the best model solution (selection criteria:  $R^2$ , selection procedure: forward) included all parameters mentioned above ( $R^2 = 0.37$ ). According to this, all 5 parameters cumulatively accounted for 36.64% in diatom community variation (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Distance based linear mode for diatom communities. Results are presented as a distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) plot. All parameters contributing to the linear model are shown, specifically Temperature, Salinity, TDP; Total Dissolved Phosphorus (µgL<sup>-1</sup>), O2 concentration (µM), TDN; Total Dissolved Nitrogen (µgL<sup>-1</sup>); CDOM; Coloured Dissolved Organic Matter (µgL<sup>-1</sup>), ChI a; Chlorophyll a (µgL<sup>-1</sup>). Positive/negative association of parameters and relative influence on community composition denoted through vector length and direction respectively. Community similarity is based on Bray-Curtis index of square root transformed abundance data. Control samples in black, N samples in green, T in orange and TN in red. Numbers above symbols denote experimental day.

#### **3.3.Dinoflagellates**

#### 3.3.1 Abundance of dinoflagellate community

Under increased temperature (T, TN), dinoflagellate abundance peaked mildly and shortly in the middle of the experiment

#### Under sole nutrient enrichment (N), dinoflagellate abundance increased but did not differ from control mesocosms.

Significant differences in total dinoflagellate abundance were noted between controls (C) and T (RM ANOVA, F (3) = 12.49). Specifically, dinoflagellate abundance was higher in C compared to T (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05). Likewise, total dinoflagellate abundance in C was significantly different from TN with higher abundance in C (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05). Additionally, total dinoflagellate abundance differed significantly between N and treatments T and TN individually (RM ANOVA, F (3) = 12.49).

As seen in Fig. 5, dinoflagellate abundance appeared to follow two patterns (treatments C, N and treatments T, TN) during the experiment. On D0, dinoflagellate abundance in C was approximately 2 times higher than all other treatments, declining on D1 up to D3, remaining at levels between 5840 cellsL<sup>-1</sup> and 13520 cellsL<sup>-1</sup>. From D4, dinoflagellate abundance almost doubled at C and quadrupled at N compared to D3, before reaching a plateau up to D6 in both treatments. On D6 abundance of dinoflagellates in C experienced a decline, falling to 14631 cellsL<sup>-1</sup> on D8 and crashed in N reaching 10827cells L<sup>-1</sup> on D8. In T, after a first decrease, the peak in dinoflagellate abundance was observed at D4 followed by a crash, falling to 2413 cells L<sup>-1</sup> on D8. In TN, this peak occurred on D5 followed by a crash until D7 and a recovery to 11640 cells L<sup>-1</sup> on D8.



Figure 5. Mean dinoflagellate abundance in all treatments across all days of the experiment. Data is based on triplicate counts (three mesocosms per treatment). C corresponds to controls, N to nutrient addition in the mesocosms, T to mesocosms with temperature set to 10 °C and TN to mesocosms that received nutrients whilst having their temperature set to 10°C.

#### 3.3.2. Community composition of dinoflagellate community

#### Increased temperature triggered most of the differences in dinoflagellate community composition

Dinoflagellate community evenness presented significantly different patterns between treatments (data not shown, RM ANOVA, (F3) = 17.1, p<0.05). The diversity index (Shannon) of the dinoflagellate community did not show significantly different patterns between treatments (data not shown, RM ANOVA, F (3) = 0.9, p>0.05). The significant effect of the interaction between experimental factors 'time' and 'treatment' on dinoflagellate community composition is confirmed by PERMANOVA results (pseudo-F = 2.9, p<0.05). According to Principal Coordinates analysis, temperature setting at 10°C in mesocosms (treatments T and TN) accounts for 35.5% of total variation between samples in the dinoflagellate community.

The highest degree of dinoflagellate community dissimilarity was observed between treatments N and T (35.7 average dissimilarity, SIMPER), whilst the lowest degree of dinoflagellate community dissimilarity was observed between treatments C and N (24.6 average dissimilarity, SIMPER). On both occasions, the two primary genera contributing to the dissimilarities include unidentified genera of the order *Gymnodiniales* (size class 1, <20  $\mu$ m) and the genus *Peridiniella* (40.7% and 35.8% cumulative contribution towards dissimilarity respectively).

As seen in Fig. 7 the taxa *Gymnodiniales* (size class 1, <20  $\mu$ m and size class 2, >20  $\mu$ m) and *Peridiniella* cumulatively exceeded 70% of relative dinoflagellate abundance in all treatments and experimental days. In C, the two taxa exceeded 90% of relative dinoflagellate abundance on all experimental days excluding D1. On D1, the two taxa contributed to dinoflagellate relative abundance by 85%. The taxa *Gymnodiniales* (size class 1, <20  $\mu$ m and size class 2, >20  $\mu$ m) and *Peridiniella* represented more than 90% of dinoflagellate abundance in treatments N, T and TN

on D0, D2, D3. In treatments N and TN this was also observed on D5. Additionally, the two taxa exceeded 90% of relative abundance in N on D6 and in TN on D8. Most notably, in treatments T, N and TN, especially in T there was an increase in rare taxa contribution to relative abundance from D5 onwards until the end of the experiment. The two most abundant taxa classed as rare in this study due to low abundances include the genera *Gyrodinium* sp. and *Peridinium* sp.. An increase in *Peridiniella* sp., contribution was seen from the beginning towards the end of the experiment. Rare taxa contribution is increased towards the end of the experiment in T and TN this increase was observed towards the middle of the experiment. Rare taxa contribution is increased towards the end of the order *Gymodiniales* of uncertain taxonomy are included in this taxon, hence *Gymnodinium* sp. are presented separately.



Figure 7. Community composition of dinoflagellates. Relative abundance of dinoflagellate genera over the course of the experiment in all treatments. Genera: *Gymnodinium, Peridiniella*. Order: *Gymnodinialles, Rare taxa*: *Gyrodinium, Karenia, Gonyaulax, Peridinium, Protoperidinium, Aureodinium, Cochlodinium, Ceratium, Protoceratium, Oxytoxum, Prorocentrum, Heterocapsa, Dinocyst, Karlodinium, Dinophysis, Scrippsiella, Amphidinium, Woloszynskia, Alexandrium, Amphidiniopsis, Peridiniopsis, Phalacroma, Preperidinium, Akashiwo, Apocalathium, Dicroerisma, Pentapharsodinium, Micracanthodinium, Sclerodinium, Diplopsalis, Achradina, Podolampas, Amyloodinium, Pyrocystis, Actiniscus, Other dinoflagellates. Data is based on triplicate counts (three mesocosms per treatment). C corresponds to controls, N to nutrient addition in the mesocosms, T to mesocosms with temperature set to 10°C and TN to mesocosms that received nutrients whilst having their temperature set to10°C.* 

#### 3.3.3. Abiotic drivers of dinoflagellate community

Dinoflagellate community composition patterns were significantly associated with Temperature, Chl a and  $O_2$  concentration ( $R^2 = 0.18$ , pseudo-F = 5.05, p<0.05). Total Dissolved Nitrogen (TDN) concentration was significant as an individual driver of variation (pseudo-F = 2.6, p<0.05) but did not contribute significantly to the model. Total Dissolved Phosphorus (TDP) concentration was not significantly associated with dinoflagellate community

composition patterns (pseudo-F = 1.6, p>0.05). However, all five abovementioned parameters were included in best distant linear model solution (selection criteria: R<sup>2</sup>, selection procedure: forward, R<sup>2</sup>= 0.24). According to model results, 23.6% of total variation between samples in the dinoflagellate community can be explained by the cumulative effect of the five model parameters (Fig. 8). Additionally, samples form two distinct clusters on the basis of temperature (treatments T, TN and treatments C, N) and dinoflagellate community structure was also explained by nutrient availability.



Figure 8. Distance based linear mode for dinoflagellate communities. Results presented as a distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) plot. All parameters contributing to the linear model are shown, specifically Temperature, Salinity, O2 concentration ( $\mu$ M), ChI a; Chlorophyll a ( $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>). Positive/negative association of parameters and relative influence on community composition denoted through vector length and direction respectively. Community similarity based on Bray-Curtis index of square root transformed abundance data. Control samples in black, N samples in green, T in orange and TN in red. Numbers above symbols denote experimental day.

#### **3.4.Ciliates**

#### 3.4.1. Abundance of ciliate community

*Under increased temperature (T, TN), ciliate abundance increased in the middle of the experiment but crashed rapidly* 

Under sole nutrient enrichment (N), ciliates thrived in abundance until the end of the experiment

Significant differences in total ciliate abundance were noted between controls (C) and N (RM ANOVA, F (3) =4.6, p<0.05) and between N and TN (One-way ANOVA, F (3) = 135.5). Specifically, total ciliate abundance was higher in N compared to C, T and TN (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05).). On D5, significant differences in ciliate abundance were observed between controls and T (One-way ANOVA, F (3) = 4.2). In detail, total ciliate abundance was lower in C

compared to T on that day (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05). On D8, total ciliate abundance was significantly different in controls compared to all other treatments (One-way ANOVA, F (3) = 135.5).

As seen in Fig. 9, ciliate abundance appeared to follow a similar pattern across all treatments up to D2, remaining at levels between 133 cells L<sup>-1</sup> and 2840 cellsL<sup>-1</sup>. From D3, ciliate abundance at N continued to increase until the end of the experiment, reaching approximately 17 times higher abundances compared to the beginning. Ciliate abundance in C constantly increased until D8, whilst experiencing a peak and crash in treatments TN and T respectively with a time lag of one experimental day. To be specific, in TN, the peak in ciliate abundance was observed at D4 followed by a crash immediately after, falling to 2173 cells L<sup>-1</sup>. In T, this peak occurred at D5 followed by a crash immediately after, falling to 453 cells L<sup>-1</sup>. The decline in the T and TN treatments match with a higher abundance of mesozooplankton biomass in these treatments than the C or N treatments, as determined at D8 (data not shown).



Figure 9 Mean ciliate abundance in all treatments across all days of the experiment. Data is based on triplicate counts (three mesocosms per treatment). C corresponds to controls, N to nutrient addition in the mesocosms, T to mesocosms with temperature set to 10°C and TN to mesocosms that received nutrients whilst having their temperature set to 10 °C.

#### 3.4.2. Community composition of ciliate community

Increased temperature triggered most of the differences in ciliate community composition, but also nutrient enrichment led to high dissimilarity between mesocosms

Ciliate evenness and Shannon diversity indices did not present significantly different patterns between controls and treatments (data not shown, RM ANOVA F (3) = 3.1, p>0.05 and RM ANOVA F (3) = 3.8, p> 0.05, respectively).

The significant effect of the interaction between experimental factors 'time' and 'treatment' on ciliate community patterns was confirmed by PERMANOVA results (pseudo-F = 2.8, p< 0.05). According to Principal Coordinates analysis, 57.2 % of total variation (cumulative for 2 axes) between samples in the ciliate community was explained

by temperature setting at 10°C in mesocosms (treatments T and TN). The highest degree of ciliate community dissimilarity was observed between treatments N and T (47.5 average dissimilarity, SIMPER) with the genera *Strombidium* and *Lohmaniella* cumulatively contributing towards this by approximately 44%. The lowest degree of ciliate community dissimilarity was observed between treatments C and N (37.8 average dissimilarity, SIMPER) with the genera *Strombidium* and *Strobilidium* cumulatively contributing towards this by approximately 38%.

As seen in Fig 11, above 60% of relative ciliate abundance in treatments T, N and TN for all days can be accounted for by 4 genera (Lohmaniella, Mesodinium, Strombidium, Strobilidium). Except for D1 and D6, the same is true of relative ciliate abundance in C. On D1 and D6 the cumulative contribution of the four genera to ciliate relative abundance is approximately 55% and 60% respectively. Irrespective of treatment and experimental day, the four genera did not contribute equally to the abovementioned sum. For instance, in C on D2 and D3 Strobilidium accounted for the greater part of the sum. In T on D5 and D6 Lohmaniella accounted for this. Stombidium accounted for the greater part of the sum on multiple experimental days in N including D6, D7 and D8. In TN, the greater part of the sum was mostly accounted for by Lohmaniella (D2, D3, D4, D5). In treatments T and TN on D5 and D6 respectively Lohmaniella, Mesodinium, Strombidium and Strobilidium cumulatively accounted for approximately 90% of relative ciliate abundance. In C and N, the highest cumulative contribution of these genera occurred on D2 and D1 respectively and in both cases amounted to approximately 85%. Other noteworthy taxa included the family Tintinnidae whose contribution to ciliate relative abundance consistently exceeded 10% in C and N on all experimental days except for D1 in N (approx. 5%). In treatments T and TN Tintinnidae contribution is lower, whilst the contribution of unidentified genera reached a maximum of approximately 10% on D0, D1, D6-D8 (T) and D0,D5-D8 (TN). Additionally, a rise in *Strombidinopsis* contribution was observed exclusively in N from D5 until the end of the experiment.



Figure 11. Community composition of ciliates. Relative abundance of ciliate taxa over the course of the experiment in all treatments. C corresponds to controls, N to nutrient addition in the mesocosms, T to mesocosms with temperature set to 10°C and TN to mesocosms that received nutrients whilst having their temperature set to10°C. Data is based on triplicate counts (three mesocosms per treatment). Genera: Balanion, Lacrymaria, Holophrya, Stombidinopsis, Didinium, Tontonia, Strobilidium, Strombidium, Unidintified, Family: Tintinnidae

#### 3.4.3. Abiotic drivers of ciliate community

Ciliate community composition patterns were significantly associated with  $O_2$  concentration, Chl a concentration and temperature, hence all three parameters were included in the best distant linear model solution (selection criteria:  $R^2$ , selection procedure: forward,  $R^2$ = 0.23). According to model results 22.51% of total variation between samples in the ciliate community was explained for by the cumulative effect of the three model parameters (Fig.12). As seen in Fig. 12, samples form two distinct clusters on the basis of temperature setting at 10°C in mesocosms (treatments T, TN and treatments C, N).



Figure 12. Distance based linear mode for ciliate communities. Results presented as a distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) plot. All parameters contributing to the linear model are shown, specifically Temperature, Salinity,  $O_2$  concentration ( $\mu$ M), Chl a; Chlorophyll a ( $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>). Positive/negative association of parameters and relative influence on community composition denoted through vector length and direction respectively. Community similarity based on Bray-Curtis index of square root transformed abundance data. Control samples in black, N samples in green, T in orange and TN in red. Numbers above symbols denote experimental day.

#### 3.5.0chrophyta

#### 3.5.1. Ochrophyta abundance

No significant differences in total ochrophyta abundance were noted between controls (C) and all other treatments (RM ANOVA, F (3) = 9.7) presumably due to the large variation between C replicates on D8. Significant differences in total ochrophyta abundance were observed between N and T (RM ANOVA, F (3) = 9.7). Specifically, total ochrophyta abundance was higher in N compared to T (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05). Additionally, ochrophyta abundance in N differed significantly from that in TN, being higher in the former (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05).

As seen in Fig 13, ochrophyta abundance appeared to follow a similar pattern across all treatments up to D4, similarly to diatoms, remaining at levels between 40 cellsL<sup>-1</sup> and 2120 cellsL<sup>-1</sup>. From D5, ochrophyta abundance at treatments C and N continued to rise until the end of the experiment reaching approximately 30 times higher abundances compared to the beginning for C and approximately 50 times higher abundances compared to the beginning for T and TN increased to a lesser extent compared to the two other treatments until the end of the experiment.



Figure 13. Mean ochrophyta abundance in all treatments across all days of the experiment.

#### 3.5.2. Community composition of ochrophyta community

Significant effects on ochrophyta community composition due to interaction of experimental factors 'time' and 'treatment' are observed (PERMANOVA, Pseudo-F = 1.8, p <0.05). As seen in Fig 14, the genus *Dinobryon* consistently composed more than 90% of relative ochrophyta abundance in C. The same is true in N treatment, with a single exception, D3. On D3 in N the genus *Chrysococcus* and rare ochrophyta genera approximately equally contributed to 20% of ochrophyta relative abundance. In both T and TN, the contribution of *Dinobryon* to ochrophyta relative abundance exceeded 90% on D0. In T this is also observed on D7 and D8 whilst in TN it is also

24

noted on D1. On D1 through to D6 in T and D2 through to D8 in TN the contribution of other genera to ochrophyta relative abundance ranged between 10% (D2, D6, both treatments) and 45% (D4, both treatments).

The contribution of the genera *Gonyostomum, Chromulina, Chrysococcus* and rare genera to this range was different between the treatments T and TN. Specifically on D2, *Gonyostomum* and *Chromulina* equally contributed to remaining relative abundance in T, whilst in TN relative abundance of the two genera was lower compared to T and *Chrysococcus* was present. On D6 in T, *Chrysococcus* and *Chromulina* were present, and the relative abundance of rare genera was lower compared to TN where the two genera were absent. Moreover, on D4, the contribution of rare genera and *Chromulina* respectively to remaining relative abundance was similar in both treatments, however the contribution of *Gonyostomum* was higher TN, whilst that of *Chrysococcus* in higher in T.



Figure 14. Community composition of ochrophyta. Relative abundance ochrophyta taxa over the course of the experiment in all treatments. C corresponds to controls, N to nutrient addition in the mesocosms, T to mesocosms with temperature set to 10°C and TN to mesocosms that received nutrients whilst having their temperature set to 10°C. Data is based on triplicate counts (three mesocosms per treatment). Genera: Dinobryon, Chrysococcus, Chromulina, Gonyostomum.and Rare genera.

#### 3.5.3. Abiotic drivers of ochrophyta community

Winter conditions (C,N samples) are not clearly differentiated from summer conditions (T,TN samples)

Ochrophyta community composition patterns were significantly associated with Chl a concentration, temperature, O<sub>2</sub> concentration and salinity ( $R^2 = 0.28$ , pseudo-F = 3.63, p< 0.05). TDN and CDOM concentrations were significant drivers of ochrophyta community composition patterns individually (pseudo-F = 6.08, p<0.05, pseudo-F = 6.91, p<0.05 and respectively) but did not contribute significantly to the linear distance model. TDP concentration was not a significant driver of variation in the ochrophyta community. However, all seven abovementioned parameters were included in the best distant linear model solution (selection criteria :  $R^{2}$ , selection procedure : forward,  $R^{2}$ =

0.34). According to the model outcome 34.38% of total variation between samples in the ochrophyta community could be explained by the cumulative effect of the seven model parameters (Fig. 15).



Figure 15. Distance based linear mode for ochrophyta communities. Results presented as a distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) plot. All parameters contributing to the linear model are shown, specifically Temperature, Salinity, TDP; Total Dissolved Phosphorus ( $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>), O2 concentration ( $\mu$ M), TDN; Total Dissolved Nitrogen ( $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>) ; CDOM; Coloured Dissolved Organic Matter ( $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>), ChI a; Chlorophyll a ( $\mu$ gL<sup>-1</sup>). Positive/negative association of parameters and relative influence on community composition denoted through vector length and direction respectively. Community similarity based on Bray-Curtis index of square root transformed abundance data. Control samples in black, N samples in green, T in orange and TN in red. Numbers above symbols denote experimental day.

## 3.6. Chlorophyta

26

#### 3.6.1. Abundance of chlorophyta community

Temperature and nutrient manipulations did not affect chlorophyta abundance

No significant differences in total chlorophyta abundance were noted between controls (C) and all other treatments (RM ANOVA, F (3) =0.3). Nonetheless, chlorophyta abundance on D2 was significantly different between C and T and between N and T (One-way ANOVA, F (3) = 8.7). Chlorophyta abundance in C and in N was lower compared to T (Tukey HSD test, p < 0.05). As seen in Fig. 16 chlorophyta abundance in C peaked on D5 and thereafter remained relatively stable until the end of the experiment. In N chlorophyta abundance rose steadily after D1, peaking on D6 and subsequently crashed until D8, falling to 45111 cellsL<sup>-1</sup>. Chlorophyta abundance in treatments T and TN followed a similar pattern of two consecutive peaks and crashes, terminating in a peak on D8. The initial peak in chlorophyta abundance in T occurred on D2 followed by a relatively steady decline up to D5. Chlorophyta abundance in TN initially peaked on D3, one experimental day later than in T. Both treatments T and TN experienced their second peak in chlorophyta abundance at D6, crashing up to D7 and recovering on D8.



Figure 16. Mean chlorophyta abundance in all treatments across all days of the experiment.

#### 3.6.2. Community composition of chlorophyta community

A single genus largely composed the chlorophyta community during the experiment.

Chlorophyta community evenness and Shannon diversity indices did not present significantly different patterns between controls and treatments (RM ANOVA F (3) = 0.7 and RM ANOVA F (3) = 0.9, respectively). No significant effect on chlorophyta community composition due to the interaction of the experimental factors 'time' and 'treatment' was observed (PERMANOVA, Pseudo-F = 1, p>0.05). However, the experimental factor 'treatment' appeared to have a significant effect on community composition (PERMANOVA, Pseudo-F = 4.7,p< 0.05). Most notably, a single genus, *Monoraphidium*, accounted for more than 98% of chlorophyta relative abundance in all treatments and days. Other notable genera, include *Scenedesmus, Desmodesmus* and *Oocystis* as their cumulative contribution to chlorophyta relative abundance. When all experimental days are considered, the cumulative contribution of the three genera did not exceed 0.5% of relative chlorophyta abundance with few exceptions per treatment. These include D1, D4 in treatments C and TN, D2 and D4 in T, D1 in N. Of the three genera, Oocystis contributes the least (<0.2%) to this sum on all occasions.

#### 3.6.3. Abiotic drivers of chlorophyta community

Winter conditions (C, N samples) are not clearly differentiated from summer conditions (T,TN samples)

Chlorophyta community composition patterns were significantly associated with  $O_2$  concentration, Chl a, TDP concentration ( $R^2 = 0.28$ , pseudo-F =7.26, p< 0.05). Temperature, CDOM concentration and TDN concentration were significant drivers of chlorophyta community composition patterns individually (pseudo-F = 5.9, p<0.05, pseudo-F = 3.7, p<0.05 and pseudo-F = 5.8, p< 0.05, respectively) but did not contribute significantly to the linear distance model. Salinity was not a significant driver of variation in the chlorophyta community. However, all 7 parameters mentioned above were included in the best distant linear model solution (selection criteria:  $R^{2}$ , selection procedure: forward,  $R^2$ = 0.31). According to model results, 31.4% of total variation between samples in the chlorophyta community can be explained for by the cumulative effect of the seven model parameters (Fig. 17).



Figure 17. Distance based linear mode for chlorophyta communities. Results presented as a distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) plot. All parameters contributing to the linear model are shown, specifically Temperature, Salinity, TDP; Total Dissolved Phosphorus (µgL<sup>-1</sup>), O<sub>2</sub> concentration (µM), TDN; Total Dissolved Nitrogen (µgL-1) ; CDOM; Coloured Dissolved Organic Matter (µgL<sup>-1</sup>), Chl a; Chlorophyll a (µgL<sup>-1</sup>). Positive/negative association of parameters and relative influence on community composition denoted through vector length and direction respectively. Community similarity based on Bray-Curtis index of square root transformed abundance data. Control samples in black, N samples in green, T in orange and TN in red. Numbers above symbols denote experimental day.

#### 3.7. Other taxa

28

Other taxa encountered in the samples include those of Table 1. Significant differences in abundance between treatments were only observed in Cyanobacteria, *Aphanizomenon sp.* in particular (RM ANOVA, F(3) = 4.6, p<0.05). *Woronichinia sp.* abundance in all treatments and days was not considered as viewing resolution did not permit counting of cells in colonies.

Table 1. Other taxa (phyla) observed among all samples (all treatments and experimental days.

Other taxa				
Cyanobacteria				
Charophyta	Cercozoa			
Cryptophyta	Choanozoa			
Haptophyta	Euglenozoa			

## 4. Discussion and conclusions

In the present mesocosm experiment two plankton communities were simulated in the tanks, corresponding to two seasons: winter (Control) and summer (TN treatment), while the N treatments and T treatments provide a fully factorial experiment with the possibility to also analyze for interactive effects. Temperature showed the main effect on most organism groups studied. Significant effects of the interaction of experimental factors ("time", "treatment") on community dynamics of Diatoms, Dinoflagellates and Ciliates occurred during the experiment, and showed effects of the experimental manipulations on the dynamics of major microbial plankton groups. Abundance and composition alterations of *Ochrophyta*, *Chlorophyta* and other taxa was also observed, even though they do not strictly conform to the definition of microplankton.

Overall mean abundance of diatoms in all treatments was orders of magnitude higher than that of dinoflagellates and ciliates, which constitute the formation of a herbivorous food web sensu Legendre and Rassoulzadegan, (1995). In this scenario diatoms are directly consumed by larger zooplankton, which were observed in the single endsample analysis (data not reported in this study). Summer temperature applied in treatments T and TN hampered diatom growth (despite nutrient addition in TN) as demonstrated by lower mean abundances in comparison to treatments C and N. Notably, mean diatom abundance in treatments T and TN crashed simultaneously after D6. This may also be influenced by increased competition with bacterioplankton, as growth and abundance of those were observed to increase in the T and TN treatments (Verma et al. 2022, submitted). This is in line with studies of phytoplankton in the Gulf of Bothnia according to which diatoms prevail during spring, while smaller forms of

phytoplankton are dominant in the summer (Andersson and Hagstrom, 1994;Andersson et al., 1996). In winter condition treatment (C), diatom abundance in the Control mesocosms continued to peak until the end of the experiment, possibly due to lack of a shading effect and competition for resources with heterotrophic bacteria brought about by DOM addition in the N mesocosms (Båmstedt and Wikner, 2016).

Mean dinoflagellate abundance formed two distinct patterns between treatments (Controls, N treatment and treatments T, TN). Generally, mean dinoflagellate abundance was lower in tanks where summer temperature was applied, similarly to diatoms, thus concurring with field reports from the study area that show lower abundances in summer (Andersson and Hagstrom, 1994; Andersson et al., 1996). Comparatively higher abundances in N and Control mesocosms could reflect dinoflagellates benefiting from growth of diatom prey (Sherr and Sherr, 1994) in these mesocosms. However, the crash of mean dinoflagellate abundance in C and N after D6 indicates that dinoflagellates were experiencing strict control within the food web. The same seemed to be true in T and TN treatments, where dinoflagellates started experiencing an increasing trend at the beginning (like C, N) which however did not continue. This levelling off could also be associated with appearance of mesozooplankton in the end of the experiment (especially TN and T treatments). Mixotrophy among dinoflagellates (Stoecker, 1999) may have further complicated abundance patterns in this taxon.

Mean ciliate abundances in treatments T and TN appeared to be clearly inhibited after D4 and D5 respectively. In Controls mean ciliate abundance was kept low but constant, whilst in N ciliates grew unhindered. Such differences among treatments with higher temperature setting (T, TN) and those with lower (C, N) resembles the seasonality of ciliate predators; in the northern Baltic Sea copepods are found at low abundances during winter(Viitasalo et al., 1994) therefore ciliates are released of top-down pressure. DOM amendment in N treatment, by boosting heterotrophy, may have invertedly fueled the microbial loop, thereby allowing enhanced ciliate growth. Strong topdown pressure on ciliates in treatments T, TN was possibly exerted late in the experiment due to copepod life cycle characteristics(Allan, 1976), especially considering that temperature increase favors copepod egg production. One could reasonably argue that if nutrient amendment in TN enhanced ciliate growth compared to T at the first half of the experiment, then metazoans capitalized earlier on this growth. Hence, ciliate abundance crashed earlier in TN, as seen by the time lag of an entire experimental Day between ciliate abundances in treatments TN and T. The ability of ciliates to proliferate in summer conditions without nutrient amendment (T), at low diatom abundances, could be attributed to mechanisms such as mixotrophy, especially since low algal density provides a competitive advantage for mixotrophic ciliates compared to heterotrophs (Stoecker et al., 2017).

As stressed earlier, the interaction of "time" and the different "treatments" had a significant effect on diatom, dinoflagellate and ciliate community composition. The effect of temperature setting at 10°C, regardless of nutrient amendment, induced more than a third (dinoflagellates) and up to half (ciliates) of total variation between samples in these groups. Therefore, seasonal variability between summer and winter are clearly reflected in ciliate and

30

dinoflagellate communities and to a lesser extent in diatoms. Regardless of season, in all three groups few dominant species were observed in terms of abundance which is typical of the Gulf of Bothnia (Andersson et al., 1996). Diatom, ciliate and dinoflagellate species observed were typical of the Baltic Sea, such as the diatoms *Chaetoceros* sp., *Skeletonema* sp., oligotrich ciliates and the dinoflagellate *Peridiniella* sp. (Andersson et al., 1996; Setälä and Kivi, 2003; Camarena-Gómez et al., 2021).

In all three taxa a codominance of two or more genera was observed, indicating that conditions were not favourable for a particular genus. For instance, although the *Skeletonema* sp. was the most abundant diatom, *Chaetoceros* sp. comparative abundance remained high in samples. Regarding dinoflagellates, *Peridiniella* sp. (identified as *Peridiniella catenanta* based on the web key in Nordic Microalgae (SMHI, 2019) ) was observed in all samples and codominated with athecate dinoflagellates of the order *Gymnodiniales*. Concerning ciliates, it is noteworthy that a higher abundance of *Mesodinium* sp. (most likely *Mesodinium rubrum*), compared to other ciliate genera, in treatments T, TN was not observed in the samples, which would have been expected based on Andersson et al. (1996). Additionally, tintinnids were favoured by winter conditions. The fixation method used in this study (Lugol's solution) possibly led to taxonomic uncertainty (as noted in Setälä and Kivi, 2003), which was addressed by marking shrinked or deformed ciliates as unidentified.

Only in the case of two phyla, *Chlorophyta* and *Ochrophyta* did we observe almost complete dominance of a single genus. The predominant chlorophyte was *Monoraphidium* sp. (most likely *M. contortum* (SMHI, 2019)). *Chlorophyta* abundance was generally higher in treatments T and TN and as such mirrored natural variability of *Monoraphidium* sp. which is more abundant during the summer, after the spring bloom in the northern Bothnian Sea. *Ochrophyta* were primarily represented by *Dinobryon* sp. found as single individuals in samples. This genus is typical of freshwater, but notably three species have been recorded in marine waters, including the Baltic Sea (Havskum and Riemann, 1996; Unrein et al., 2010). In the northern Bothnian Sea, *Dinobryon sp.* is a winter species (Alasaarela, 1979; Lkavalko and Thomsen, 1997), which could explain higher abundances in Controls and N treatment (winter temperatures). Bacterivory has been observed in *Dinobryon* (Havskum and Riemann, 1996; Unrein et al., 2010), therefore nutrient amendment in N treatment could have increased its prey availability, fueling growth of this taxon.

Other taxa found in samples, described in in the Results section, were found in the samples, in abundances several orders of magnitude lower than the taxa described above, mostly due to underestimation of their abundance using the Utermöhl, (1931) method. It is however noteworthy that Cyanobacteria (e.g *Aphanizomenon* sp. filaments) were found in higher abundances in Control and N treatments, whereas based on literature, higher abundances in T, TN treatments would have been expected. Perhaps trophic interactions within taxa of lower abundances could have led to this paradox, or abiotic conditions in these mesocosms prevented Cyanobacteria from proliferating.

The analysis of abiotic drivers in the different microplankton taxa, further reinforce the influence of temperature on dinoflagellate and ciliate communities. In each of these taxa, samples form two distinct clusters (T, TN and C, N). In diatoms, chlorophyta and ochrophyta, such clustering based on temperature is not as pronounced, although it could be expected given abundance and community composition data. Of the parameters fed into the models for the identification of abiotic drivers, no single one was excluded in all taxa where these were investigated. It is notable that in diatoms and chlorophyta, ochrophyta (considered autotrophic for simplicity) while DOM (here CDOM) is a significant driver as an individual component it does not contribute significantly to the model as an environmental driver. The influence of CDOM, (predominantly negative) on primary producers has been previously recorded in the study area (Wikner and Andersson, 2012; Andersson et al., 2018).

In summary, this study targeted the influence of substrate and temperature manipulation on microplankton community. Temperature and substrate manipulations imposed winter and summer conditions in C and TN mesocosms respectively. Treatments T and N were not assignable to a particular season but contributed towards a fully factorial experiment. In this experiment warming was not induced as in Hoppe et al. (2008). In the present study the influence of temperature and nutrients on the microplankton community could be disentangled. In terms of temperature, variation in the microplankton assemblages followed natural seasonal patterns for the study area (Andersson et al., 1996). In terms of nutrient amendment, we traced a significant influence of substrate manipulations both in terms of microplankton abundances and community composition. The suppression of diatom abundance by the addition of nutrients (N) with the parallel increase in ciliate, dinoflagellate abundance in this treatment is indicative of the shift in heterotrophy brought about by increased DOM concentration observed by Wikner and Andersson (2012) and Andersson et al. (2018) in the study area. Such a shift could invariably spread to higher trophic levels eventually impacting fish, therefore fisheries (Andersson et al., 2018). Further research could enhance our understanding as to how the two parameters (temperature and nutrients) control summer and winter protist assemblages in sub-arctic environments. Knowledge of such mechanisms is critical if we are to understand the impact of climate change on microplankton assemblages, especially in areas highly influenced by climate variability such as the Baltic Sea(HELCOM, 2021).

The pelagic food web is a network (Andersson et al., 2017), and shifts at the basic (bacteria,nano-,micro-plankton) level could lead to major changes higher up (Sarmento et al., 2010). This is clearly demonstrated in the present study where it is noted that shifts in the bacterial community affect microplankton (and possibly higher trophic levels). This could have a profound influence on the ecosystem and humans. As such, the present study is valuable not only from an ecological perspective by providing insight into food web dynamics. It is also valuable from a coastal management perspective because food web function affects major activities at sea (i.e fisheries, climate change impact reduction) and how these are regulated.

32

#### **5.Bibliography**

Adl, S. M., Simpson, A. G. B., Farmer, M. A., Andersen, R. A., Anderson, O. R., Barta, J. R., Bowser, S. S., Brugerolle, G., Fensome, R. A., Fredericq, S., James, T. Y., Karpov, S., Kugrens, P., Krug, J., Lane, C. E., Lewis, L. A., Lodge, J., Lynn, D. H., Mann, D. G., ... Taylor, M. F. J. R. (2005). The new higher level classification of eukaryotes with emphasis on the taxonomy of protists. In Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology (Vol. 52, Issue 5, pp. 399–451). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2005.00053.x

Alasaarela, E. (1979). Spatial, seasonal and long-term variations in the phytoplanktonic biomass and species composition in the coastal waters of the Bothnian Bay off Oulu. Ann. Bot. Fennici, 16, 108–122. https://about.jstor.org/terms

Alegria Zufia, J., Farnelid, H., and Legrand, C. (2021). Seasonality of Coastal Picophytoplankton Growth, Nutrient Limitation, and Biomass Contribution. Frontiers in Microbiology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.786590

Algesten, G., Wikner, J., Sobek, S., Tranvik, L. J., and Jansson, M. (2004). Seasonal variation of CO2 saturation in the Gulf of Bothnia: Indications of marine net heterotrophy. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 18(4), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GB002232

Alldredge, A. L., and Silver, M. W. (1988). Characteristics, dynamics and significance of marine snow. Progress in Oceanography, 20(1), 41–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/0079-6611(88)90053-5

Amin, S. A., Hmelo, L. R., van Tol, H. M., Durham, B. P., Carlson, L. T., Heal, K. R., Morales, R. L., Berthiaume, C. T., Parker, M. S., Djunaedi, B., Ingalls, A. E., Parsek, M. R., Moran, M. A., and Armbrust, E. v. (2015). Interaction and signalling between a cosmopolitan phytoplankton and associated bacteria. Nature, 522(7554), 98–101. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14488

Anderson, M. J., Gorley, R. N., and Clarke, K. R. (2008). PERMANOVA+ Primer: Guide to Software and Statistical Methods. In Primer-E (p. 93).

Andersson, A., Brugel, S., Paczkowska, J., Rowe, O. F., Figueroa, D., Kratzer, S., and Legrand, C. (2018). Influence of allochthonous dissolved organic matter on pelagic basal production in a northerly estuary. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 204, 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2018.02.032

Andersson, A. F., Riemann, L., and Bertilsson, S. (2010). Pyrosequencing reveals contrasting seasonal dynamics of taxa within Baltic Sea bacterioplankton communities. ISME Journal, 4(2), 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2009.108 Andersson, A., Hajdu, S., Haecky, P., Kuparinen, J., and Wikner, J. (1996). Succession and growth limitation of phytoplankton in the Gulf of Bothnia (Baltic Sea). Marine Biology, 126(4), 791–801. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00351346

Andersson, A., Tamminen, T., Lehtinen, S., Jürgens, K., Labrenz, M., and Viitasalo, M. (2017). The pelagic food web. In P. Snoeijs-Leijonmalm, H. Schubert, and T. Radziejewska (Eds.), Biological Oceanography of the Baltic Sea (pp. 281–332). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0668-2\_8

Andersson -R, A., and Hagstrom, H.-A. (1994). Effect of temperature and light on the growth of micro-nano-and pico-plankton: impact on algal succession. In Marine Biology (Vol. 120). Springer-Verlag.

Armbrust, E. V. (2009). The life of diatoms in the world's oceans. Nature, 459(7244), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08057

Azam, F., Fenchel, T., Field, J., Gray, J., Meyer-Reil, L., and Thingstad, F. (1983). The Ecological Role of Water-Column Microbes in the Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 10(13), 257–263. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps010257

Azam, F., and Malfatti, F. (2007). Microbial structuring of marine ecosystems. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 5(10), 782–791. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1747

Båmstedt, U., and Larsson, H. (2018a). An indoor pelagic mesocosm facility to simulate multiple water-column characteristics. International Aquatic Research, 10(1), 13–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40071-017-0185-y

Båmstedt, U., and Larsson, H. (2018b). An indoor pelagic mesocosm facility to simulate multiple water-column characteristics. International Aquatic Research, 10(1), 13–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40071-017-0185-y

Båmstedt, U., and Wikner, J. (2016). Mixing depth and allochthonous dissolved organic carbon: Controlling factors of coastal trophic balance. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 561, 17–29. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11907

Baretta-Bekker, J. G., Baretta, J. W., and Koch Rasmussen, E. (1995). The microbial food web in the European Regional Seas Ecosystem Model. Netherlands Journal of Sea Research, 33(3–4), 363–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/0077-7579(95)90053-5

Barton, A. D., Pershing, A. J., Litchman, E., Record, N. R., Edwards, K. F., Finkel, Z. v., Kiørboe, T., and Ward, B. A. (2013). The biogeography of marine plankton traits. In Ecology Letters (Vol. 16, Issue 4, pp. 522–534). https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12063

Boyd, P. W., and Newton, P. P. (1999). Does planktonic community structure determine downward particulate organic carbon flux in different oceanic provinces? Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers, 46(1), 63–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0967-0637(98)00066-1

Boyd, P. W., Watson, A. J., Law, C. S., Abraham, E. R., Trull, T., Murdoch, R., Bakker, D. C. E., Bowie, A. R., Buesseler, K. O., Chang, H., Charette, M., Croot, P., Downing, K., Frew, R., Gall, M., Hadfield, M., Hall, J., Harvey, M., Jameson, G., ... Zeldis, J. (2000). A mesoscale phytoplankton bloom in the polar Southern Ocean stimulated by iron fertilization. In NATURE (Vol. 407). www.nature.com

Calbet, A., and Landry, M. R. (2004). Phytoplankton growth, microzooplankton grazing, and carbon cycling in marine systems. In Limnol. Oceanogr (Vol. 49, Issue 1). http://www.aslo.org/Lo/vol49/

Camarena-Gómez, M. T., Ruiz-González, C., Piiparinen, J., Lipsewers, T., Sobrino, C., Logares, R., and Spilling, K. (2021). Bacterioplankton dynamics driven by interannual and spatial variation in diatom and dinoflagellate spring bloom communities in the Baltic Sea. Limnology and Oceanography, 66(1), 255–271. https://doi.org/10.1002/Lno.11601

Carstensen, J., and Heiskanen, A. S. (2007). Phytoplankton responses to nutrient status: Application of a screening method to the northern Baltic Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 336(Niemi 1979), 29–42. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps336029

Cavalier-Smith, T. (2002). The phagotrophic origin of eukaryotes and phylogenetic classification of Protozoa. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 52(2), 297–354. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-52-2-297

Celussi, M., Malfatti, F., Annalisa, F., Gazeau, F., Giannakourou, A., Pitta, P., Tsiola, A., and del Negro, P. (2017). Ocean acidification effect on prokaryotic metabolism tested in two diverse trophic regimes in the Mediterranean Sea. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 186, 125–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2015.08.015

Cermeño, P., Marañón, E., Pérez, V., Serret, P., Fernández, E., and Castro, C. G. (2006). Phytoplankton size structure and primary production in a highly dynamic coastal ecosystem (Ría de Vigo, NW-Spain): Seasonal and short-time scale variability. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 67(1–2), 251–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2005.11.027

Chavez, F. P., Buck, K. R., Coale, K. H., Martin, J. 13, Ditullio, G. R., Welschmeyer, F. A., Jacobson, A. C., and Barber, R. T. (1991). Growth rates, grazing, sinking, and iron limitation of equatorial Pacific phytoplankton. In Limnol. Oceanogr (Vol. 36, Issue 8).

Clarke, K. R., and Gorley, R. N. (2006). Primer (Plymouth routines in multivariate ecological research) v6: user manual/tutorial. In Plymouth, UK (pp. 1–91). Primer-E Ltd.

36

Cole, J. J., and Pace, M. L. (1995). Why measure bacterial production? A reply to the comment by Jahnke and Craven. Limnology and Oceanography, 40(2), 441–444. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1995.40.2.0441

David Allan, J. (1976). Life History Patterns in Zooplankton. The American Naturalist, 110(971), 165–180. https://about.jstor.org/terms

Degerman, R., Lefébure, R., Byström, P., Båmstedt, U., Larsson, S., and Andersson, A. (2018). Food web interactions determine energy transfer efficiency and top consumer responses to inputs of dissolved organic carbon. Hydrobiologia, 805(1), 131–146. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-017-3298-9

del Giorgio, P. A., and Cole, J. J. (1998). Bacterial growth efficiency in natural aquatic systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 29, 503–541. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.29.1.503

del Giorgio, P. A., Cole, J. J., and Cimbleris, A. (1997). Respiration rates in bacteria exceed phytoplankton production in unproductive aquatic systems. Nature, 385(6612), 148–151. https://doi.org/10.1038/385148a0

Durham, B. P., Sharma, S., Luo, H., Smith, C. B., Amin, S. A., Bender, S. J., Dearth, S. P., van Mooy, B. A. S., Campagna, S. R., Kujawinski, E. B., Armbrust, E. V., and Moran, M. A. (2015). Cryptic carbon and sulfur cycling between surface ocean plankton. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 112(2), 453–457. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1413137112

Enberg, S., Majaneva, M., Autio, R., Blomster, J., and Rintala, J. (2018). Phases of microalgal succession in sea ice and the water column in the Baltic Sea from autumn to spring. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 599, 19–34. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12645

Eriksson, S., Sellei, C., and Wallström, K. (1977). The structure of the plankton community of the Öregrundsgrepen (southwest Bothnian Sea). Helgoländer Wissenschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen, 30(1–4), 582–597. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02207863

Falkowski, P. G., Barber, R. T., and Smetacek, V. (1998). Biogeochemical Controls and Feedbacks on Ocean Primary Production. Science, 281(5374), 200–206. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.281.5374.200

Falkowski, P. G., Fenchel, T., and Delong, E. F. (2008). The microbial engines that drive earth's biogeochemical cycles. In Science (Vol. 320, Issue 5879, pp. 1034–1039). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1153213

Flynn, K. J., Stoecker, D. K., Mitra, A., Raven, J. A., Glibert, P. M., Hansen, P. J., Granéli, E., and Burkholder, J. M. (2013). Misuse of the phytoplankton-zooplankton dichotomy: The need to assign organisms as mixotrophs within plankton functional types. Journal of Plankton Research, 35(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbs062

Frede Thingstad, T. (1997). A theoretical approach to structuring mechanisms in the pelagic food web. Hydrobiologia, 363, 59–72. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003146310365

Fuhrman, J. A., Ammerman, J. W., and Azam, F. (1980). Bacterioplankton in the coastal euphotic zone: Distribution, activity and possible relationships with phytoplankton. Marine Biology, 60(2–3), 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00389163

Fuhrman, J., Sleeter, T., Carlson, C., and Proctor, L. (1989). Dominance of bacterial biomass in the Sargasso Sea and its ecological implications. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 57, 207–217. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps057207

Gilbert, P. and Mitra. P. (2022). From webs, loops, shunts, and pumps to microbial multitasking: Evolving concepts of marine microbial ecology, the mixoplankton paradigm, and implications for a future ocean. *Limnology and Oceanography*, (2022), 585-597, 67(3). 10.1002L-1no.12018

Gomez, F. (2012). A quantitative review of the lifestyle, habitat and trophic diversity of dinoflagellates (Dinoflagellata, Alveolata). In Systematics and Biodiversity (Vol. 10, Issue 3, pp. 267–275). https://doi.org/10.1080/14772000.2012.721021

Gowing, M. M. (2003). Large viruses and infected microeukaryotes in Ross Sea summer pack ice habitats. Marine Biology, 142(5), 1029–1040. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-003-1015-x

Granskog, M., Kaartokallio, H., Kuosa, H., Thomas, D. N., and Vainio, J. (2006). Sea ice in the Baltic Sea - A review. In Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science (Vol. 70, Issues 1–2, pp. 145–160). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2006.06.001

Grasshoff, K., Kremling, K., and Ehrhardt, M. (Eds.). (1999). Methods of Seawater Analysis. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527613984

Hagström, Å., Azam, F., Kuparinen, J., and Zweifel, U.-L. (2001). Pelagic Plankton Growth and Resource Limitations in the Baltic Sea (pp. 177–210). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-04453-7\_7

Hansen, P. (1991). Quantitative importance and trophic role of heterotrophic dinoflagellates in a coastal pelagial food web. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 73, 253–261. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps073253

Hansen, P. J. (2011). The role of photosynthesis and food uptake for the growth of marine mixotrophic dinoflagellates. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology, 58(3), 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1550-7408.2011.00537.x

Havskum, H., and Riemann, B. (1996). Ecological importance of bacterivorous, pigmented flagellates (mixotrophs) in the Bay of Aarhus, Denmark. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 137, 251–263. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps137251

38

Hébert, M. P., Symons, C. C., Cañedo-Argüelles, M., Arnott, S. E., Derry, A. M., Fugère, V., Hintz, W. D., Melles, S. J., Astorg, L., Baker, H. K., Brentrup, J. A., Downing, A. L., Ersoy, Z., Espinosa, C., Franceschini, J. M., Giorgio, A. T., Göbeler, N., Gray, D. K., Greco, D., ... Beisner, B. E. (2022). Lake salinization drives consistent losses of zooplankton abundance and diversity across coordinated mesocosm experiments. In Limnology And Oceanography Letters. John Wiley and Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10239

HELCOM. (1993). Convention of the protection of the marine environment of the Baltic Sea Area, 1974 (Helsinki Convention), with amendments to its Annexes adopted by the Helsinki Commission in1983, 1987, 1989, 1990, 1992 and 1993. https://helcom.fi/media/documents/1974\_Convention.pdf

HELCOM. (2021). Climate Change in the Baltic Sea-2021 Facts Sheet. https://helcom.fi/baltic-sea-climate-change-fact-sheet-new-publication-shows-latest-scientific-knowledge-on-climate-change-in-the-baltic-sea/

Herndl, G., Agogué, H., Baltar, F., Reinthaler, T., Sintes, E., and Varela, M. (2008). Regulation of aquatic microbial processes: the 'microbial loop' of the sunlit surface waters and the dark ocean dissected. Aquatic Microbial Ecology, 53(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01225

Hjerne, O., Hajdu, S., Larsson, U., Downing, A., and Winder, M. (2019). Climate driven changes in timing, composition and size of the Baltic Sea phytoplankton spring bloom. Frontiers in Marine Science, 6(JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00482

Hoppe, H. G., Breithaupt, P., Walther, K., Koppe, R., Bleck, S., Sommer, U., and Jürgens, K. (2008). Climate warming in winter affects the coupling between phytoplankton and bacteria during the spring bloom: A mesocosm study. Aquatic Microbial Ecology, 51(2), 105–115. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01198

Huete-Stauffer, T. M., Arandia-Gorostidi, N., Díaz-Pérez, L., and Morán, X. A. G. (2015). Temperature dependences of growth rates and carrying capacities of marine bacteria depart from metabolic theoretical predictions. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 91(10). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiv111

Irigoien, X., Huisman, J., and Harris, R. P. (2004). Global biodiversity patterns of marine phytoplankton and zooplankton. Nature, 429(6994), 863–867. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02593

Jeong, H. J., du Yoo, Y., Kim, J. S., Seong, K. A., Kang, N. S., and Kim, T. H. (2010). Growth, feeding and ecological roles of the mixotrophic and heterotrophic dinoflagellates in marine planktonic food webs. Ocean Science Journal, 45(2), 65–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12601-010-0007-2

Jurgensone, I., Carstensen, J., Ikauniece, A., and Kalveka, B. (2011). Long-term Changes and Controlling Factors of Phytoplankton Community in the Gulf of Riga (Baltic Sea). Estuaries and Coasts, 34(6), 1205–1219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-011-9402-x

Juvigny-Khenafou, N. P. D., Piggott, J. J., Atkinson, D., Zhang, Y., Macaulay, S. J., Wu, N., and Matthaei, C. D. (2021). Impacts of multiple anthropogenic stressors on stream macroinvertebrate community composition and functional diversity. Ecology and Evolution, 11(1), 133–152. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6979

Kahru, M., and Nommann, S. (1990). The phytoplankton spring bloom in the Baltic Sea in 1985, 1986: multitude of spatio-temporal scales. Continental Shelf Research, 10(4), 329–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/0278-4343(90)90055-Q

Kaikkonen, L., Enberg, S., Blomster, J., Luhtanen, A. M., Autio, R., and Rintala, J. M. (2020). Autumn to spring microbial community in the northern Baltic Sea: temporal variability in bacterial, viral and nanoflagellate abundance during the cold-water season. Polar Biology, 43(9), 1193–1206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-020-02700-8

Kirchman, D. L., Hill, V., Cottrell, M. T., Gradinger, R., Malmstrom, R. R., and Parker, A. (2009). Standing stocks, production, and respiration of phytoplankton and heterotrophic bacteria in the western Arctic Ocean. Deep-Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 56(17), 1237–1248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.10.018

Kirchman, D. L., Malmstrom, R. R., and Cottrell, M. T. (2005). Control of bacterial growth by temperature and organic matter in the Western Arctic. Deep-Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 52(24–26), 3386–3395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2005.09.005

Kivi, K., Kaitala, S., Kuosa, H., Kuparinen, J., Leskinen, E., Lignell, R., Marcussen, B., and Tamminen, T. (1993). Nutrient limitation and grazing control of the Baltic plankton community during annual succession. Limnology and Oceanography, 38(5), 893–905. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1993.38.5.0893

Kivi, K., Kuosa\*', H., and Tanskanene, S. (1996). An experimental study on the role of crustacean and microprotozoan grazers in the planktonic food web. In MARINE ECOLOGY PROGRESS SERIES Mar Ecol Prog Ser (Vol. 136).

le Bescot, N., Mahé, F., Audic, S., Dimier, C., Garet, M. J., Poulain, J., Wincker, P., de Vargas, C., and Siano, R. (2016). Global patterns of pelagic dinoflagellate diversity across protist size classes unveiled by metabarcoding. Environmental Microbiology, 18(2), 609–626. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13039

Leblanc, K., Arístegui, J., Armand, L., Assmy, P., Beker, B., Bode, A., Breton, E., Cornet, V., Gibson, J., Gosselin, M.-P., Kopczynska, E., Marshall, H., Peloquin, J., Piontkovski, S., Poulton, A. J., Quéguiner, B., Schiebel, R., Shipe, R., Stefels, J., ... Yallop, M. (2012). A global diatom database – abundance, biovolume and biomass in the world ocean. Earth System Science Data, 4(1), 149–165. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-4-149-2012

Legendre, L., and Rassoulzadegan, F. (1995). Plankton and nutrient dynamics in marine waters. Ophelia, 41(1), 153– 172. https://doi.org/10.1080/00785236.1995.10422042

Legendre, L., and Rivkin, R. (2008). Planktonic food webs: microbial hub approach. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 365, 289–309. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07467

Levinsen, H., Nielsen, T. G., Hansen, J., Kiørboe, T., Madsen, S. D., Richardson, K.-E., Thomsen, H. A., Carstensen, J., Lundsgaard, C., Montagnes, D., Møller, E. F., Stedmon, C., and Verity, P. (2002). The trophic role of marine pelagic ciliates and heterotrophic dinoflagellates in arctic and temperate coastal ecosystems: A cross-latitude comparison. In Limnol. Oceanogr (Vol. 47, Issue 2).

Lima-Mendez, G., Faust, K., Henry, N., Decelle, J., Colin, S., Carcillo, F., Chaffron, S., Ignacio-Espinosa, J. C., Roux, S., Vincent, F., Bittner, L., Darzi, Y., Wang, J., Audic, S., Berline, L., Bontempi, G., Cabello, A. M., Coppola, L., Cornejo-Castillo, F. M., ... Raes, J. (2015). Determinants of community structure in the global plankton interactome. Science, 348(6237), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1262073

Litchman, E., and Klausmeier, C. A. (2008). Trait-Based Community Ecology of Phytoplankton. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 39(1), 615–639. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173549

Lkavalko1, J., and Thomsen, H. A. (1997). The Baltic Sea Ice Biota (March 1994): A Study of the Protistan Community European Journal of PROTISTOLOGY. In Europ. J. Protistol (Vol. 33).

MacManus G.B., and Santoferrara L. F. (2013). Tintinnids in microzooplankton communities. In: *The Biology and Ecology of Tintinnid Ciliates: Models for Marine Plankton*, First Edition. Edited by Dolan J.R, Montagnes, D.J.S, Sabine, A., Wayne Coats, D., and Stoecker, D., K. . John Wiley & Sons

Magiopoulos, I., Chantzaras, C., Symiakaki, K., Antoniou, E., Pavloudi, C., Romano, F., Piperakis, G., Zanaroli, G., Kalogerakis, N., and Pitta, P. (2020). To burn or not to burn? Impact of in-situ oil burning by-products on marine plankton: A mesocosm experimental approach. EGU General Assembly. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphere-egu2020-14807

Mann, D. G. (1999). The species concept in diatoms. Phycologia, 38(6), 437–495. https://doi.org/10.2216/i0031-8884-38-6-437.1

Marañón, E. (2005). Phytoplankton growth rates in the Atlantic subtropical gyres. In Limnol. Oceanogr (Vol. 50, Issue 1).

Marãnón, E., Cermeño, P., Huete-Ortega, M., López-Sandoval, D. C., Mouriño-Carballido, B., and Rodríguez-Ramos, T. (2014). Resource supply overrides temperature as a controlling factor of marine phytoplankton growth. PLoS ONE, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099312

Marañón, E., Holligan, P. M., Varela, M., Mouriño, B., and Bale, A. J. (2000). Basin-scale variability of phytoplankton biomass, production and growth in the Atlantic Ocean. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers, 47(5), 825–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0967-0637(99)00087-4

Martínez-García, S., Fernández, E., del Valle, D. A., Karl, D. M., and Teira, E. (2013). Experimental assessment of marine bacterial respiration. Aquatic Microbial Ecology, 70(3), 189–205. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame01644

Mironova, E., Telesh, I., and Skarlato, S. (2012). Diversity and seasonality in structure of ciliate communities in the Neva Estuary (Baltic Sea). Journal of Plankton Research, 34(3), 208–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbr095

Mitra, A., Flynn, K. J., Burkholder, J. M., Berge, T., Calbet, A., Raven, J. A., Granéli, E., Glibert, P. M., Hansen, P. J., Stoecker, D. K., Thingstad, F., Tillmann, U., Väge, S., Wilken, S., and Zubkov, M. v. (2014). The role of mixotrophic protists in the biological carbon pump. Biogeosciences, 11(4), 995–1005. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-995-2014

Mitra, A., Flynn, K. J., Tillmann, U., Raven, J. A., Caron, D., Stoecker, D. K., Not, F., Hansen, P. J., Hallegraeff, G., Sanders, R., Wilken, S., McManus, G., Johnson, M., Pitta, P., Våge, S., Berge, T., Calbet, A., Thingstad, F., Jeong, H. J., ... Lundgren, V. (2016). Defining Planktonic Protist Functional Groups on Mechanisms for Energy and Nutrient Acquisition: Incorporation of Diverse Mixotrophic Strategies. Protist, 167(2), 106–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protis.2016.01.003

Morán, X. A. G., Estrada, M., Gasol, J. M., and Pedrós-Alió, C. (2002). Dissolved primary production and the strength of phytoplankton-bacterioplankton coupling in contrasting marine regions. Microbial Ecology, 44(3), 217–223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-002-1026-z

Morán, X. A. G., Gasol, J. M., Pernice, M. C., Mangot, J. F., Massana, R., Lara, E., Vaqué, D., and Duarte, C. M. (2017). Temperature regulation of marine heterotrophic prokaryotes increases latitudinally as a breach between bottomup and top-down controls. Global Change Biology, 23(9), 3956–3964. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13730

Mostajir, B., Amblard, C., Buffan-Dubau, E., de Wit, R., Lensi, R., and Sime-Ngando, T. (2015). Microbial food webs in aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. In Environmental Microbiology: Fundamentals and Applications (pp. 485–509). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9118-2\_13

Murray, S. A., Suggett, D. J., Doblin, M. A., Kohli, G. S., Seymour, J. R., Fabris, M., and Ralph, P. J. (2016). Unravelling the functional genetics of dinoflagellates: a review of approaches and opportunities. Perspectives in Phycology, 3(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1127/pip/2016/0039

42

Mustaffa, N. I. H., Kallajoki, L., Biederbick, J., Binder, F. I., Schlenker, A., and Striebel, M. (2020). Coastal Ocean Darkening Effects via Terrigenous DOM Addition on Plankton: An Indoor Mesocosm Experiment. Frontiers in Marine Science, 7(October), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.547829

Nixon, S. W. (1995). Coastal marine eutrophication: A definition, social causes, and future concerns. Ophelia, 41(1), 199–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/00785236.1995.10422044

Olofsson, M., Hagan, J. G., Karlson, B., and Gamfeldt, L. (2020). Large seasonal and spatial variation in nano- and microphytoplankton diversity along a Baltic Sea—North Sea salinity gradient. Scientific Reports, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-74428-8

Pernthaler, J. (2005). Predation on prokaryotes in the water column and its ecological implications. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 3(7), 537–546. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1180

Petersen, J. E., and Kemp, W. M. (2019). Mesocosms: Enclosed experimental ecosystems in ocean science. In Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences (pp. 724–738). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11616-1

Petersen, J. E., Kennedy, V. S., Dennison, W. C., and Kemp, • W Michael. (2009). Enclosed Experimental Ecosystems and Scale (J. E. Petersen, V. S. Kennedy, W. C. Dennison, and W. M. Kemp, Eds.). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-76767-3

Pielou, E. C. (1966). The measurement of diversity in different types of biological collections. Journal of Theoretical Biology, 13(C), 131–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-5193(66)90013-0

Pierce, R. W., and Turner, J. T. (1992). Ecology of Planktonic Ciliates in Marine Food Webs. In Reviews in Aquatic Sciences (Vol. 6, Issue 2).

Pinhassi, J., Sala, M. M., Havskum, H., Peters, F., Guadayol, Ò., Malits, A., and Marrasé, C. (2004). Changes in bacterioplankton composition under different phytoplankton regimens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 70(11), 6753–6766. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.11.6753-6766.2004

Pirt, S. J. (1982). Maintenance energy: a general model for energy-limited and energy-sufficient growth. Archives of Microbiology, 133(4), 300–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00521294

Pitta, P., Giannakourou, A., and Christaki, U. (2001). Planktonic ciliates in the oligotrophic Mediterranean Sea: longitudinal trends of standing stocks, distributions and analysis of food vacuole contents. Aquatic Microbial Ecology, 24, 297–311. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame024297

Pitta, P., Nejstgaard, J. C., Tsagaraki, T. M., Zervoudaki, S., Egge, J. K., Frangoulis, C., Lagaria, A., Magiopoulos, I., Psarra, S., Sandaa, R.-A., Skjoldal, E. F., Tanaka, T., Thyrhaug, R., and Thingstad, T. F. (2016). Confirming the "Rapid phosphorus transfer from microorganisms to mesozooplankton in the Eastern Mediterranean Sea" scenario through a mesocosm experiment. Journal of Plankton Research, 38(3), 502–521. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbw010

Pomeroy, L., leB. Williams, P., Azam, F., and Hobbie, J. (2007). The Microbial Loop. Oceanography, 20(2), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.5670/oceanog.2007.45

Pomeroy, L. R. (1974). The ocean's food web, a changing paradigm. BioScience, 24(9), 499–504. https://doi.org/10.2307/1296885

Pomeroy, L., and Wiebe, W. (2001). Temperature and substrates as interactive limiting factors for marine heterotrophic bacteria. Aquatic Microbial Ecology, 23, 187–204. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame023187

Quere, C. le, Harrison, S. P., Colin Prentice, I., Buitenhuis, E. T., Aumont, O., Bopp, L., Claustre, H., Cotrim Da Cunha, L., Geider, R., Giraud, X., Klaas, C., Kohfeld, K. E., Legendre, L., Manizza, M., Platt, T., Rivkin, R. B., Sathyendranath, S., Uitz, J., Watson, A. J., and Wolf-Gladrow, D. (2005). Ecosystem dynamics based on plankton functional types for global ocean biogeochemistry models. Global Change Biology, 0(0), 051013014052005-??? https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.1004.x

Reigstad, M., Wassmann, P., Wexels Riser, C., Øygarden, S., and Rey, F. (2002). Variations in hydrography, nutrients and chlorophyll a in the marginal ice-zone and the central Barents Sea. Journal of Marine Systems, 38(1–2), 9–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-7963(02)00167-7

Riebesell, U., Czerny, J., von Bröckel, K., Boxhammer, T., Büdenbender, J., Deckelnick, M., Fischer, M., Hoffmann, D., Krug, S. A., Lentz, U., Ludwig, A., Muche, R., and Schulz, K. G. (2013). Technical Note: A mobile sea-going mesocosm system - New opportunities for ocean change research. Biogeosciences, 10(3), 1835–1847. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-1835-2013

Riebesell, U., Lee, K., and Neijstgaard, J. C. (2010). Pelagic mesocosms, in: Guide to best practices in ocean acidification research and data reporting, edited by: Riebesell, U., Fabry, V., Hansson, L., and Gattuso, J.-P. https://doi.org/10.2777/66906

Romano, F., and Pitta, P. (2021). Relationships of pelagic ciliates with the microbial food web components at a coastal station in the oligotrophic Eastern Mediterranean Sea: Temporal and vertical variability. Journal of Plankton Research, 43(5), 691–711. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbab053

44

Sandberg, J., Andersson, A., Johansson, S., and Wikner, J. (2004). Pelagic food web structure and carbon budget in the northern Baltic Sea: potential importance of terrigenous carbon. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 268, 13–29. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps268013

Sarmento, H., Montoya, J. M., Vázquez-Domínguez, E., Vaqué, D., and Gasol, J. M. (2010). Warming effects on marine microbial food web processes: How far can we go when it comes to predictions? In Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences (Vol. 365, Issue 1549, pp. 2137–2149). Royal Society. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0045

Sarthou, G., Timmermans, K. R., Blain, S., and Tréguer, P. (2005). Growth physiology and fate of diatoms in the ocean: A review. Journal of Sea Research, 53(1-2 SPEC. ISS.), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2004.01.007

Setälä, O., and Kivi, K. (2003). Planktonic ciliates in the Baltic Sea in summer: distribution, species association and estimated grazing impact. Aquatic Microbial Ecology, 32, 287–297. https://doi.org/10.3354/ame032287

Shannon, C. E., and Weaver, N. (1949). A Mathematical Theory of Communication. Urbana University of Illinois Press.

Sherr, E. B., and Sherr, B. F. (1991). Planktonic microbes: Tiny cells at the base of the ocean's food webs. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 6(2), 50–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(91)90122-E

Sherr, E. B., and Sherr, B. F. (1994). Controls of the Microbial Loop: Biotic Factors Bacterivory and Herbivory: Key Roles of Phagotrophic Protists in Pelagic Food Webs. In Microb Ecol (Vol. 28).

Sherr, E. B., and Sherr, B. F. (2007). Heterotrophic dinoflagellates: A significant component of microzooplankton biomass and major grazers of diatoms in the sea. In Marine Ecology Progress Series (Vol. 352, pp. 187–197). https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07161

Shiah, F.-K., and Ducklow, H. W. (1994). Temperature and substrate regulation of bacterial abundance, production and specific growth rate in Chesapeake Bay, USA (Vol. 103).

Sieburth, J. McN., Smetacek, V., and Lenz, J. (1978). Pelagic ecosystem structure: Heterotrophic compartments of the plankton and their relationship to plankton size fractions 1. Limnology and Oceanography, 23(6), 1256–1263. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1978.23.6.1256

Snoeijs-Leijonmalm, P., and Andren, E. (2017). Why is the baltic sea so special to live in? In Biological Oceanography of the Baltic Sea (pp. 23–84). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0668-2\_2

Spilling, K., Olli, K., Lehtoranta, J., Kremp, A., Tedesco, L., Tamelander, T., Klais, R., Peltonen, H., and Tamminen, T. (2018). Shifting diatom-dinoflagellate dominance during spring bloom in the Baltic Sea and its potential effects on biogeochemical cycling. In Frontiers in Marine Science (Vol. 5, Issue SEP). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00327

Stewart, R. I. A., Dossena, M., Bohan, D. A., Jeppesen, E., Kordas, R. L., Ledger, M. E., Meerhoff, M., Moss, B., Mulder, C., Shurin, J. B., Suttle, B., Thompson, R., Trimmer, M., and Woodward, G. (2013). Mesocosm Experiments as a Tool for Ecological Climate-Change Research. In Advances in Ecological Research (Vol. 48, pp. 71–181). Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417199-2.00002-1

Stoecker, D. K. (1999). Mixotrophy among Dinoflagellates'. In J Eukaryn Microbiol (Vol. 46, Issue 4).

Stoecker, D. K., Hansen, P. J., Caron, D. A., and Mitra, A. (2017). Mixotrophy in the Marine Plankton. Annual Review of Marine Science, 9(1), 311–335. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-010816-060617

Stoecker, D. K., Weigel, A. C., Stockwell, D. A., and Lomas, M. W. (2014). Microzooplankton: Abundance, biomass and contribution to chlorophyll in the Eastern Bering Sea in summer. Deep-Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 109, 134–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2013.09.007

Stoecker, D., Taniguchi, A., and Michaels, A. (1989). Abundance of autotrophic, mixotrophic and heterotrophic planktonic ciliates in shelf and slope waters. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 50, 241–254. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps050241

Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (SMHI). (n.d.). Nordic Micoralgae . SMHI . http://nordicmicroalgae.org/quick-view

Tamminen, T., and Andersen, T. (2007). Seasonal phytoplankton nutrient limitation patterns as revealed by bioassays over Baltic Sea gradients of salinity and eutrophication. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 340, 121–138. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps340121

Thornton, D. C. O. (2002). Diatom aggregation in the sea: Mechanisms and ecological implications. In European Journal of Phycology (Vol. 37, Issue 2, pp. 149–161). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0967026202003657

Tiselius, P., and Møller, L. F. (2017). Community cascades in a marine pelagic food web controlled by the non-visual apex predator Mnemiopsis leidyi. Journal of Plankton Research, 39(2), 271–279. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbw096

Trombetta, T., Vidussi, F., Roques, C., Scotti, M., and Mostajir, B. (2020). Marine Microbial Food Web Networks During Phytoplankton Bloom and Non-bloom Periods: Warming Favors Smaller Organism Interactions and Intensifies Trophic Cascade. Frontiers in Microbiology, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.502336 Tsiola, A., Toncelli, C., Fodelianakis, S., Michoud, G., Bucheli, T. D., Gavriilidou, A., Kagiorgi, M., Kalantzi, I., Knauer, K., Kotoulas, G., Mylona, K., Papadopoulou, E., Psarra, S., Santi, I., Tsapakis, M., Daffonchio, D., Pergantis, S. A., and Pitta, P. (2018). Low-dose addition of silver nanoparticles stresses marine plankton communities. Environmental Science: Nano, 5(8), 1965–1980. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8en00195b

Uitz, J., Claustre, H., Morel, A., and Hooker, S. B. (2006). Vertical distribution of phytoplankton communities in open ocean: An assessment based on surface chlorophyll. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 111(8). https://doi.org/10.1029/2005JC003207

Unrein, F., Gasol, J. M., and Massana, R. (2010). Dinobryon faculiferum (Chrysophyta) in coastal Mediterranean seawater: presence and grazing impact on bacteria. Journal of Plankton Research, 32(4), 559–564. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbp150

Utermöhl, H. (1931). Neue Wege in der quantitativen Erfassung des Plankton. (Mit besonderer Berücksichtigung des Ultraplanktons.). SIL Proceedings, 1922-2010, 5(2), 567–596. https://doi.org/10.1080/03680770.1931.11898492

Viitasalo, M., Katajisto, T., and Vuorinen, I. (1994). Seasonal dynamics of Acartia bijilosa and Eurytemora affinis (Copepoda: Calanoida) in relation to abiotic factors in the northern Baltic Sea. In Hydrobiologia (Vol. 2921293).

Vikström, K., and Wikner, J. (2019). Importance of Bacterial Maintenance Respiration in a Subarctic Estuary: a Proof of Concept from the Field. Microbial Ecology, 77(3), 574–586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-018-1244-7</u>

Vikström, Kevin; Bartl, Ines; Karlsson, Jan; et al. Strong Influence of Baseline Respiration in an Oligotrophic Coastal Ecosystem. Frontiers in Marine Science, Frontiers Media S.A. 2020, Vol. 7

Wasmund, N., and Uhlig, S. (2003). Phytoplankton trends in the Baltic Sea. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 60(2), 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-3139(02)00280-1Wikner, J., and Andersson, A. (2012). Increased freshwater discharge shifts the trophic balance in the coastal zone of the northern Baltic Sea. Global Change Biology, 18(8), 2509–2519. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02718.x

Wilhelm, S. W., and Suttle, C. A. (1999). Viruses and Nutrient Cycles in the Sea. BioScience, 49(10), 781–788. https://doi.org/10.2307/1313569

Winder, M., and Sommer, U. (2012). Phytoplankton response to a changing climate. Hydrobiologia, 698(1), 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1149-2

Yool, A., and Tyrrell, T. (2003). Role of diatoms in regulating the ocean's silicon cycle. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 17(4). https://doi.org/10.1029/2002gb002018